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C.I. HOLDINGS BERHAD 

(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
 
 
The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and the audited financial statements of the Group 
and of the Company for the financial year ended 30 June 2011. 
 
 
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
 
The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and the provision of management services 
to its subsidiaries. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 10 to the financial 
statements. There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial 
year. 
 
 
RESULTS 
 
 Group  Company
 RM’000  RM’000
  
Profit for the financial year 40,040 14,855
  
Attributable to:  

Owners of the parent 40,094 14,855
Non-controlling interests (54) -

 
 40,040 14,855
 
 
DIVIDENDS 
 
Dividends paid, declared or proposed since the end of the previous financial year were as follows: 
 
 RM’000
 
In respect of financial year ended 30 June 2010: 
 
Final dividend of 7 sen per ordinary share, less tax of 25%, paid on 19 November 

2010  
7,455

 
In respect of financial year ended 30 June 2011: 
 
Interim dividend of 5 sen per ordinary share, less tax of 25%, paid on 8 March 2011 5,325
 
 12,780
 
The Directors propose a final dividend of 7 sen per share, less tax of 25%, amounting to RM7,455,000  in 
respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2011, subject to the approval of members at the forthcoming 
Annual General Meeting of the Company. 
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RESERVES AND PROVISIONS 
 
There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year. 
 
 
ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES 
 
The Company has not issued any new shares or debentures during the financial year. 
 
 
OPTIONS GRANTED OVER UNISSUED SHARES 
 
No options were granted to any person to take up unissued ordinary shares of the Company during the 
financial year. 
 
 
DIRECTORS 
 
The Directors who have held for office since the date of the last report are: 
 
Dato’ Seri Abdul Ghani Bin Abdul Aziz 
Datuk Johari Bin Abdul Ghani 
Nor Hishammuddin Bin Dato’ Mohd Nordin 
Maj Gen (R) Dato’ Mohamed Isa Bin Che Kak 
Datuk Wira Syed Ali Bin Tan Sri Syed Abbas Alhabshee 
Dato’ Azmeer Bin Rashid 
Datin Mariam Prudence Binti Yusof 
Teh Bee Tein 
Kasinathan a/l Tulasi (appointed on 8 February 2011) 
 
 
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS   
 
The Directors holding office at the end of the financial year and their beneficial interests in the ordinary 
shares of the Company during the financial year ended 30 June 2011 as recorded in the Register of 
Directors’ Shareholdings kept by the Company under Section 134 of the Companies Act, 1965 were as 
follows: 
 
 ----- Number of ordinary shares of RM1.00 each ----- 
 Balance at   Balance at 
 1.7.2010 Bought Sold 30.6.2011 
Shares in the Company     
     
Direct interests     
     
Datuk Johari Bin Abdul Ghani 40,000,000 2,600,000 - 42,600,000 
Dato’ Seri Abdul Ghani Bin     

Abdul Aziz 60,000 - - 60,000 
Maj Gen (R) Dato’ Mohamed Isa Bin      

Che Kak - 5,000 - 5,000 
   

Indirect interest   
   
Datin Mariam Prudence Binti Yusof 28,400,000 77,400 - 28,477,400 
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS  (continued) 
 
By virtue of their interests in the ordinary shares of the Company, Datuk Johari Bin Abdul Ghani and 
Datin Mariam Prudence Binti Yusof are also deemed to be interested in the ordinary shares of all the 
subsidiaries to the extent the Company has an interest. 
 
None of the other Directors holding office at the end of the financial year  held any interest in the 
ordinary shares of the Company or ordinary shares, options over ordinary shares and debentures of its 
related corporations during the financial year. 
 
 
DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS 
 
Since the end of the previous financial year, none of the Directors have received or become entitled to 
receive any benefit (other than a benefit included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due 
and receivable by the Directors as shown in the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the 
Company or a related corporation with the Director or with a firm of which the Director is a member, or 
with a company in which the Director has a substantial financial interest, except for any benefits which 
may be deemed to have been derived by virtue of those transactions as disclosed in Note 39(b) to the 
financial statements. 
 
There were no arrangements during and at the end of the financial year, to which the Company is a party, 
which had the object of enabling Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the 
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate. 
 
 
OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION REGARDING THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY 
 
(I) AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
 
 (a) Before the statements of comprehensive income and statements of financial position of the 

Group and of the Company were made out, the Directors took reasonable steps: 
 

(i) to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad 
debts and the making of provision for doubtful debts and have satisfied themselves 
that all known bad debts had been written off and that adequate provision had been 
made for doubtful debts; and 

 
(ii) to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their book values in 

the ordinary course of business had been written down to their estimated realisable 
values. 

 
 (b) In the opinion of the Directors, the results of the operations of the Group and of the 

Company during the financial year have not been substantially affected by any item, 
transaction or event of a material and unusual nature. 
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OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION REGARDING THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY 
(continued) 
 
(II) FROM THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR TO THE DATE OF THIS REPORT 
 
 (c) The Directors are not aware of any circumstances: 
 

(i) which would render the amounts written off for bad debts or the amount of the 
provision for doubtful debts in the financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company inadequate to any material extent; and 

 
(ii) which would render the values attributed to the current assets in the financial 

statements of the Group and of the Company misleading; and 
 
(iii) which have arisen which would render adherence to the existing method of valuation 

of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate. 
 
 (d) In the opinion of the Directors: 
 
 (i) there has not arisen any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature 

likely to affect substantially the results of the operations of the Group and of the 
Company for the financial year in which this report is made; and 

 
 (ii) no contingent or other liability has become enforceable, or is likely to become 

enforceable, within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year 
which will or may affect the ability of the Group and of the Company to meet their 
obligations as and when they fall due. 

 
(III) AS AT THE DATE OF THIS REPORT 
 
 (e) There are no charges on the assets of the Group and of the Company which have arisen 

since the end of the financial year to secure the liabilities of any other person. 
 
 (f) There are no contingent liabilities of the Group and of the Company which have arisen 

since the end of the financial year. 
 
 (g) The Directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in the report or 

financial statements which would render any amount stated in the financial statements of 
the Group and of the Company misleading. 

 
 
SIGNIFICANT EVENT SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD 
 
On 21 July 2011, the Company entered into a conditional share sale agreement with Asahi Group 
Holdings Ltd. (“Asahi”) for the disposal of the entire equity interest in Permanis Sdn. Bhd. to Asahi for a 
total cash consideration of RM820 million. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF C.I. HOLDINGS BERHAD 
 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the financial statements of C.I. Holdings Berhad, which comprise the 
statements of financial position as at 30 June 2011 of the Group and of the Company, 
and the statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and 
statements of cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the financial year then 
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information, as set out on pages 9 to 104. 
 
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial 
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with applicable approved 
Financial Reporting Standards and the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, 
and for such internal control as the Directors determine are necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in 
Malaysia. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our 
judgement, including the assessment of risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we 
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial statements 
that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the 
Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements have been properly drawn up in accordance 
with applicable approved Financial Reporting Standards and the provisions of the 
Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Group and of the Company as at 30 June 2011 and of their financial 
performance and cash flows for the financial year then ended. 
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C.I. HOLDINGS BERHAD  

(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2011 
 
 
  Group Company 
  2011 2010 2011  2010 
   (Restated)    
 Note RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000 
       
ASSETS       
       
NON-CURRENT ASSETS       
       

Property, plant and equipment 7 176,063 128,263 30 22 
Investment properties 8 1,280 1,280 -      -      
Intangible assets 9 47,548 47,548 -      -      
Investments in subsidiaries 10 -      -       90,614 90,614 
Other investment 11 10 15 10 15 
Deferred tax assets 12 1,552 1,642 -      -      
      

  226,453 178,748 90,654 90,651 
      
CURRENT ASSETS      

      
Inventories   13 76,487 51,912 -      -      
Trade and other receivables 14 122,498 113,572 72 56 
Amounts owing by subsidiaries 15 -      -      12,145 10,313 
Current tax assets  1,510 219 108 191 
Cash and cash equivalents 16 70,820 40,434 12,163 11,520 
Derivative assets 17 8 -      -      -      

       
  271,323 206,137 24,488 22,080 

Non-current assets held for sale 18 -      4,500 -      -      
      

  271,323 210,637 24,488 22,080 
      
TOTAL ASSETS  497,776 389,385 115,142 112,731 
       
       
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES       
       
Equity attributable to owners        

of the parent       
   

Share capital 19 142,000 142,000 142,000 142,000 
Share premium 20 2,147 2,147 2,147 2,147 
Retained earnings/(Accumulated       
losses) 20 45,238 17,160 (44,675) (46,750) 

      
  189,385 161,307 99,472 97,397 

Non-controlling interests  1,056 1,110 - -       
      

TOTAL EQUITY  190,441 162,417 99,472 97,397 
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C.I. HOLDINGS BERHAD 

(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2011 (continued) 
 
 
  Group Company 
  2011 2010 2011  2010 
   (Restated)    
 Note RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000 
      
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES      
      

Borrowings 21 119,643 50,684 -      -      
Retirement benefit obligations 25 3,404 3,439 -      -      
Deferred tax liabilities 12 15,145 7,313 180 -      

      
  138,192 61,436 180 -      
CURRENT LIABILITIES      
      

Trade and other payables 26 106,908 114,017 1,245 1,085 
Provisions  27 4,122 4,068 -      -      
Derivative liabilities 17 1,340 -      -      -      
Amounts owing to subsidiaries 15 -      -      14,245 14,249 
Borrowings 21 55,818 43,970 -      -      
Current tax liabilities  955 3,477 -      -      

      
  169,143 165,532 15,490 15,334 
      

TOTAL LIABILITIES  307,335 226,968 15,670 15,334 
      

TOTAL EQUITY AND      
LIABILITIES  497,776 389,385 115,142 112,731 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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C.I. HOLDINGS BERHAD 

(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011 

 
  Group Company 
  2011 2010 2011  2010 
 Note RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000 
       
Revenue 31 580,737 516,401 19,326 25,597 
      
Cost of sales 32 (353,745) (304,609) -        -        
      
Gross profit   226,992 211,792 19,326 25,597 
      
Other income  6,345 3,301 -        7 
      
Selling and distribution costs  (123,600) (126,207) -        -        
      
Administrative expenses  (48,304) (37,100) (3,316) (3,191) 
      
Other expenses   (1,839) (591) (12) (9) 
      
Finance costs  (6,330) (3,160) (11) (12) 
      
Profit before tax 33 53,264 48,035 15,987 22,392 
      
Tax expense 35 (13,224) (9,991) (1,132) (5,353) 
      
Profit for the financial year  40,040 38,044 14,855 17,039 
      
Other comprehensive income  -        -        -        -        
      
Total comprehensive income  40,040 38,044 14,855 17,039 

      
Profit attributable to:      
Owners of the parent  40,094 38,123 14,855 17,039 
Non-controlling interests  (54) (79) -        -        
      
  40,040 38,044 14,855 17,039 
          

Total comprehensive income      
attributable to:      

Owners of the parent  40,094 38,123 14,855 17,039 
Non-controlling interests  (54) (79) -        -        
      

  40,040 38,044 14,855 17,039 

      
Gross dividends per ordinary share (sen)      
- Interim dividend 37 5.00 4.00 5.00 4.00 
- Final dividend  7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 

      
Earnings per ordinary share      
attributable to equity holders       
of the Company (sen)      
- Basic 36 28.24 26.85   

          

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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C.I. HOLDINGS BERHAD 

(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011 
 
 
 <---------------- Attributable to equity holders of the Company -------------->   
       

 Share Share (Accumulated losses)/  Minority Total 
Group capital premium Retained earnings Total interest equity 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
       

Balance at 30 June 2009 142,000 2,147 (11,378) 132,769 1,189 133,958 
       

Total comprehensive income - - 38,123 38,123 (79) 38,044 
       

Transaction with owners      
Dividends paid (Note 37) - - (9,585) (9,585) - (9,585) 
       

Total transaction with owners - - (9,585) (9,585) - (9,585) 
       

Balance at 30 June 2010 142,000 2,147 17,160 161,307 1,110 162,417 
       

Effect of the adoption of FRS 139 - - 764 764 - 764 
       
Restated balance as at 1 July 2010 142,000 2,147 17,924 162,071 1,110 163,181 
       

Total comprehensive income - - 40,094 40,094 (54) 40,040 
       

Transaction with owners      
Dividends paid (Note 37) - - (12,780) (12,780) - (12,780) 
       
Total transaction with owners - -  (12,780) (12,780) - (12,780) 
       

Balance at 30 June 2011 142,000 2,147 45,238 189,385 1,056 190,441 

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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C.I. HOLDINGS BERHAD 

(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011(continued) 
 
 
    <Non-distributable>  
     
 Share Share Accumulated Total 
Company capital premium losses equity 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
     
Balance at 30 June 2009 142,000 2,147 (54,204) 89,943 
     
Total comprehensive income - -      17,039 17,039 
     
Transaction with owners     
Dividends paid (Note 37) - -      (9,585) (9,585) 
     
Total transaction with owners - -      (9,585) (9,585) 
     
Balance at 30 June 2010 142,000 2,147 (46,750) 97,397 
     
Total comprehensive income - -      14,855 14,855 
     
Transaction with owners     
Dividends paid (Note 37) - -      (12,780) (12,780) 
     
Total transaction with owners - -      (12,780) (12,780) 
     
Balance at 30 June 2011 142,000 2,147 (44,675) 99,472 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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C.I. HOLDINGS BERHAD 

(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011 
 
  Group  Company 
  2011 2010  2011 2010 
   (Restated)    
 Note RM’000 RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 
CASH FLOWS FROM       
  OPERATING ACTIVITIES      
     
Profit before tax   53,264 48,035 15,987 22,392 
      
Adjustments for:      
      
Bad debts written off  12 383 -        -        
Depreciation of property, plant and      
  equipment 7 19,220 13,706  9 9 
Dividend income 31 - - (12,950) (19,139) 
Fair value adjustments on derivative       
  instruments  1,834 - - - 
Gain on disposal of:      
  - property, plant and equipment  (24) (371) -        -        
  - investment properties  - (10) -        -        
Impairment loss on:       
  - other investment   11 5 -       5 -        
  - property, plant and equipment 7 - 591 -        -        
  - trade and other receivables  717 125 7 9 
Interest expense  5,816 2,704 11 12 
Interest income  (475) (506) (376) (458) 
Inventories written down  38 -       -        -        
Inventories written off  7,351 6,920 -        -        
Net unrealised gain on foreign      
  exchange  (1,446) (152) -        -        
Other investment written off  - 6 -        -        
Property, plant and equipment       
  written off 7 1,853 1,311 -        -        
Provision for:      
  - litigation claim 27 3 1,600 -        -        
  - retirement benefits 25 232 405 -        -        
  - other liabilities 27 415 586 -        -        
  - other liabilities no longer required 27 (364) (468) -        -        
Reversal of impairment loss on       
  trade receivables  - (72) -        -        
Share of profit margin on Islamic       
  term financing  514 456 -        -        
Write back of impairment loss in       
  subsidiary  - -       -        (7) 
      
Operating profit before       
  working capital changes  88,965 75,249 2,693 2,818 
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C.I. HOLDINGS BERHAD (37918 - A) 

(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011 (continued) 
 
  Group  Company 
  2011 2010  2011 2010 
   (Restated)    
 Note RM’000 RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 
      
Operating profit before       
  working capital changes   88,965 75,249 2,693 2,818 
      
Changes in working capital:      
Inventories  (31,964) (26,208) -        -        
Trade and other receivables  (9,658) (35,968) (17) (42) 
Trade and other payables  (8,383) 43,924 160 534 

      
Cash generated from operations  38,960 56,997 2,836 3,310 
      
Tax paid  (9,242) (6,178) (870) (870) 
Tax refunded  2 121 -        -        
Interest paid  (1,131) (1,328) (11) (12) 
Contributions paid for retirement       
  benefits 25 (267) (298) -        -        
      
Net cash from operating activities  28,322 49,314 1,955 2,428 
      
CASH FLOWS FROM       
  INVESTING ACTIVITIES      
      
Advances to subsidiaries  - -       (1,842) (19,479) 
Dividend received  - -       12,950 14,634 
Interest received  475 506 376 458 
Proceeds from disposal of:       
  - property, plant and equipment  121 387 1 -        
  - non-current assets held for sale  4,500 -       -        -        
  - investment properties  - 615 -        -        
  - subsidiary  - -       -        300 
Purchase of property, plant and       
  equipment 7(d) (13,260) (50,861) (17) (1) 
Placement of additional deposit       
  to an institutional trustee account   (79) (76) -        -        
Withdrawal/(Placement) of fixed       
  deposits pledged to licensed banks  62 (2) -        -        
      
Net cash (used in)/from investing      
  activities   (8,181) (49,431) 11,468 (4,088) 
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C.I. HOLDINGS BERHAD (37918 - A) 

(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2011 (continued) 
 
 
  Group  Company 
  2011 2010  2011 2010 
   (Restated)    
 Note RM’000 RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 
      
CASH FLOWS FROM       
  FINANCING ACTIVITIES      
      
Repayments to hire purchase and       
  lease creditors  (4,063) (4,778) - -        
Repayments of borrowings  (52,932) (11,014) - -        
Drawdowns of borrowings  84,814 28,257 - -        
Share of profit on Islamic term       
  financing paid  (514) (456) - -        
Dividends paid  (12,780) (9,585) (12,780) (9,585) 
Interest paid  (4,297) (1,376) - -        
      
Net cash from/(used in) financing      
  activities  10,228 1,048 (12,780) (9,585) 
      
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and       
  cash equivalents  30,369 931 643 (11,245) 
      
Cash and cash equivalents at       
  beginning of financial year  38,485 37,554 11,520 22,765 
      
Cash and cash equivalents at end of      
  financial year 16 68,854 38,485 12,163 11,520 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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C.I. HOLDINGS BERHAD 

(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
30 JUNE 2011 
 
 
1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 
 
 The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia, 

and is listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. 
 

The registered office and principal place of business of the Company are located at Level 10, 
Menara Yayasan Tun Razak, No. 200, Jalan Bukit Bintang, 55100 Kuala Lumpur. 
 
The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”), which is also the 
Company’s functional currency. All financial information presented in RM has been rounded 
to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated. 
 
The financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution by the 
Board of Directors on 21 September 2011. 

 
 
2. PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

 
The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and the provision of 
management services to its subsidiaries. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out 
in Note 10 to the financial statements. There have been no significant changes in the nature of 
these activities during the financial year. 

 
 
3. BASIS OF PREPARATION  
 

The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance 
with applicable approved Financial Reporting Standards (“FRSs”) and the provisions of the 
Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. However, Note 46 to the financial statements has been 
prepared in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised 
and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants 
(“MIA Guidance”) and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. 
 

 
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
4.1 Basis of accounting 
 

The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention except as otherwise stated in the financial statements. 
 
The preparation of financial statements requires the Directors to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses and 
disclosure of contingent assets and contingent liabilities. In addition, the Directors are also 
required to exercise their judgement in the process of applying the accounting policies. The 
areas involving such judgements, estimates and assumptions are disclosed in Note 6 to the 
financial statements. Although these estimates and assumptions are based on the Directors’ 
best knowledge of events and actions, actual results could differ from those estimates. 
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
4.2 Basis of consolidation 

 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company 
and all its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities (including special purposes entities) over 
which the Company has the power to govern the financial operating policies, generally 
accompanied by a shareholding giving rise to the majority of the voting rights, as to obtain 
benefits from their activities. 
 
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group up to 
the effective date on which control ceases, as appropriate. 
 
Intragroup balances, transactions, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation. 
Unrealised gains arising from transactions with associates and joint ventures are eliminated 
against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised losses 
are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no 
impairment. 
 
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as that 
of the Company, using consistent accounting policies. Where necessary, accounting policies 
of subsidiaries are changed to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the other 
entities in the Group. 
 
Non-controlling interests represents the equity in subsidiaries that are not attributable, 
directly or indirectly, to owners of the Company, and is presented separately in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated 
statement of financial position, separately from equity attributable to owners of the Company. 
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the 
owners of the parent and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income is 
attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests 
having a deficit balance. 
 
Non-controlling interests in the acquiree may be initially measured either at fair value or at 
the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a combination-by-
combination basis. Subsequent to initial recognition, the carrying amount of non-controlling 
interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling 
interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. 
 
The Group has applied the revised FRS 3 Business Combinations in accounting for business 
combinations from 1 July 2010 onwards. The change in accounting policy has been applied 
prospectively in accordance with the transitional provisions provided by the Standard. 
 
Changes in the Company owners’ ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a 
loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying 
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in 
their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the 
non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of consideration paid or received is 
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the parent.  
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
4.2 Basis of consolidation (continued) 

 
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as 
the difference between: 

 
(i)  the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any 

retained interest; and 
 
(ii)  the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the 

subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. 
 
Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary 
are accounted for (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings) 
in the same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of. 
The fair value of any investments retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is 
lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under FRS 
139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, where applicable, the cost on 
initial recognition of an investment in associate or jointly controlled entity. 

 
4.3 Business combinations 
 

Business combinations from 1 July 2010 onwards 
 
Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method of accounting. 
Identifiable assets acquired, liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are measured at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that: 
 
(a) deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit 

arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance with FRS 112 Income Taxes 
and FRS 119 Employee Benefits respectively; 

 
(b) liabilities or equity instruments related to the replacements by the Group of an 

acquiree’s share-based payment awards are measured in accordance with FRS 2 Share-
based Payment; and 

 
(c) assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with FRS 5 

Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in 
accordance with that Standard. 

 
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs are 
incurred and the serviced are received. 
 
In a business combination achieved in stages, previously held equity interests in the acquiree 
are re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date and any corresponding gain or loss is 
recognised in profits or loss. 
 
The Group elects for each individual business combination, whether non-controlling interest 
in the acquire (if any) is recognised on the acquisition date at fair value, or at the non-
controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquire net identifiable assets. 
 
Any excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the business 
combination, the amount of non-controlling interest in the acquire (if any), and the fair value 
of the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquire (if any), over the net fair value of 
the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill in the statement of 
financial position. The accounting policy for goodwill is set out in Note 4.8. In instances 
where the latter amount exceeds the former, the excess is recognised as a gain on bargain 
purchase in profit or loss on the acquisition date. 
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
4.3 Business combinations (continued) 

 
Business combinations before 1 July 2010 
 
Under the purchase method, the cost of business combination is measured at the aggregate of 
fair values at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity 
instruments issued plus any costs directly attributable to the business combination.  
 
At the acquisition date, the cost of business combination is allocated to identifiable assets 
acquired, liabilities assumed and contingent liabilities in the business combination which are 
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of 
business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities is recognised as goodwill (see Note 4.8 to the financial 
statements on goodwill). If the cost of business combination is less than the interest in the net 
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities, the Group will: 

 
(a) reassess the identification and measurement of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, 

liabilities and contingent liabilities and the measurement of the cost of the business 
combination; and 
 

(b) recognise immediately in profit or loss any excess remaining after that reassessment. 
 

When a business combination includes more than one exchange transaction, any adjustment 
to the fair values of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
relating to previously held interests of the Group is accounted for as a revaluation. 

 
4.4 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation 

 
All items of property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost. Cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of asset.   
 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate 
asset, as appropriate, only when the cost is incurred and it is probable that future economic 
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can be 
measured reliably. The carrying amount of parts that are replaced is derecognised. The costs 
of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as 
incurred. Cost also comprises the initial estimate of dismantling and removing the asset and 
restoring the site on which is located for which the Group is obligated to incur when the asset 
is acquired, if applicable. 
 
Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation 
to the total cost of the asset and which has a different useful life, is depreciated separately.  
 
After initial recognition, property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less any accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.  
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

4.4 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued) 
 

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of the assets to their residual values on a 
straight line basis over their estimated useful lives. The principal depreciation periods and 
rates are as follows: 

 
Buildings 2%
Leasehold land 50 - 99 years
Bottles and cases 20%
Plant and machinery 5% - 15%
Office furniture and equipment 15% - 25%
Renovations 15%
Motor vehicles 20% - 25%

 
 Freehold land has unlimited useful life and is not depreciated. Construction-in-progress 

represents machinery under installation and renovation-in-progress and is stated at cost. 
Construction-in-progress is not depreciated until such time when the asset is available for use. 

 
At the end of each reporting period, the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is assessed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
its carrying amount may not be recoverable. A write down is made if the carrying amount 
exceeds the recoverable amount (see Note 4.9 to the financial statements on impairment of 
non-financial assets). 
 
The residual values, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period to ensure that the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent 
with previous estimates and the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic 
benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and equipment. If expectations differ from 
previous estimates, the changes are accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate. 
 
The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised on disposal 
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. The difference 
between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount is included in profit or 
loss. 

 
4.5 Leases and hire purchase 

 
(a) Finance leases and hire purchase 

 
Assets acquired under finance leases and hire purchase which transfer substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group are recognised initially at amounts 
equal to the fair value of the leased assets or, if lower, the present value of the 
minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. The discount 
rate used in calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments is the interest 
rate implicit in the leases, if this is practicable to determine; if not, the Group’s 
incremental borrowing rate is used. Any initial direct costs incurred by the Group are 
added to the amount recognised as an asset.  The assets are capitalised as property, 
plant and equipment and the corresponding obligations are treated as liabilities. The 
property, plant and equipment capitalised are depreciated on the same basis as owned 
assets. 

 
The minimum lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and a reduction 
of the outstanding liability. The finance charges are recognised in profit or loss over the 
period of the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining lease and hire purchase liabilities. 
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
4.5 Leases and hire purchase (continued) 

 
(b) Operating leases 

 
A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the 
risks and rewards incidental to ownership. 
 
Lease payments under operating leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. 

 
(c) Leases of land and buildings 

 
For leases of land and buildings, the land and buildings elements are considered 
separately for the purpose of lease classification and these leases are classified as 
operating or finance leases in the same way as leases of other assets. 
 
The minimum lease payments including any lump-sum upfront payments made to 
acquire the interest in the land and building are allocated between the land and the 
building elements of the lease in proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold 
interest in the land element and the building element of the lease at the inception of the 
lease. 
 
For a lease of land and buildings in which the amount that would be initially be 
recognised for the land element is immaterial, the land and buildings are treated as a 
single unit for the purpose of lease classification and is accordingly classified as a 
finance or operating lease. In such a case, the economic life of the buildings is regarded 
as the economic life of the entire leased asset. 
 
Following the adoption of Amendment to FRS 117 Leases contained in the 
Improvements to FRSs (2009), the Group reassessed the classification of land elements 
of unexpired leases on the basis of information existing at the inception of those leases. 
Consequently, the Group retrospectively reclassified all its prepaid lease payments for 
land as finance leases as disclosed in Notes 7 and 44 to the financial statements. 

 
4.6 Investment properties 

 
 Investment properties are properties which are held to earn rental yields or for capital 
appreciation or for both and are not occupied by the Group. Investment properties also 
include properties that are being constructed or developed for future use as investment 
properties. Investment properties are initially measured at cost, which includes transaction 
costs. After initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value.   
 
If the Group determines that the fair value of an investment property under construction is not 
reliably determinable but expects the fair value of the property to be reliably determinable 
when construction is complete, the Group shall measure that investment property under 
construction at cost until either its fair value becomes reliably determinable or construction is 
completed (whichever is earlier). Once the Group is able to measure reliably the fair value of 
an investment property under construction that has previously been measured at cost, the 
Group shall measure that property at its fair value. 
 
The fair value of investment properties are the prices at which the properties could be 
exchanged between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.  The fair 
value of investment properties reflect market conditions at the end of the reporting period, 
without any deduction for transaction costs that may be incurred on sale or other disposal. 
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
4.6 Investment properties (continued) 

 
Fair values of investment properties are arrived at by reference to market evidence of 
transaction prices for similar properties. It is performed by registered independent valuers 
with appropriate recognised professional qualification and has recent experience in the 
location and category of the investment properties being valued. 
 
A gain or loss arising from a change in the fair value of investment properties is recognised in 
profit or loss for the period in which it arises. 
 
 Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when they 
are permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from their 
disposals. The gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of investment property 
is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying 
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss in the period of the retirement or 
disposal. 

 
4.7 Investments in subsidiaries 
 

A subsidiary is an entity in which the Group and the Company have power to control over 
the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The existence 
and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are 
considered when assessing whether the Group has such power over another entity. 
 
An investment in subsidiary, which is eliminated on consolidation, is stated in the 
Company’s separate financial statements at cost. Investments accounted for at cost shall be 
accounted for in accordance with FRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations when they are classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is 
classified as held for sale) in accordance with FRS 5.  
 
When control of a subsidiary is lost as a result of a transaction, event or other circumstance, 
the Group would derecognise all assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests at their 
carrying amount and to recognise the fair value of the consideration received. Any retained 
interest in the former subsidiary is recognised at its fair value at the date control is lost. The 
resulting difference is recognised as a gain or loss in profit or loss. 

 
4.8 Goodwill  

 
Goodwill recognised in a business combination is an asset at the acquisition date and is 
initially measured at cost being the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the 
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s 
previously held equity interest (if any) in the entity over net of the acquisition-date amounts 
of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the 
Group’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds the sum of 
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and 
the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the 
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.  
 
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if 
any. Goodwill is not amortised but instead tested for impairment annually or more frequently 
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired.  
Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating 
to the entity sold. 
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
4.9 Impairment of non-financial assets 
 

 The carrying amounts of assets, except for financial assets (excluding investments in 
subsidiaries), inventories, deferred tax assets, investment properties measured at fair value 
and non-current assets held for sale, are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If such indication exists, the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated.   

 
Goodwill that has an indefinite useful life is tested annually for impairment or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the goodwill might be impaired.   

 
The recoverable amount of an asset is estimated for an individual asset. Where it is not 
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the impairment test is 
carried out on the cash generating unit (“CGU”) to which the asset belongs. Goodwill 
acquired in a business combination is from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the 
Group’s CGU or groups of CGU that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination giving rise to the goodwill irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of 
the acquiree are assigned to those units or groups of units.  

 
Goodwill acquired in a business combination shall be tested for impairment as part of the 
impairment testing of CGU to which it relates. The CGU to which goodwill is allocated shall 
represent the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal 
management purposes and not larger than an operating segment determined in accordance 
with FRS 8. 

 
The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the higher of its fair value less cost to sell and 
its value in use.  

 
 In estimating the value in use, the estimated future cash inflows and outflows to be derived 

from continuing use of the asset and from its ultimate disposal are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value 
of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the future cash flow estimates have not 
been adjusted.  An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when the carrying amount 
of the asset or the CGU, including the goodwill or intangible asset, exceeds the recoverable 
amount of the asset or the CGU. The total impairment loss is allocated, first, to reduce the 
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU and then to the other assets of the 
CGU on a pro-rata basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the CGU. 

 
  The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately. 
 
  An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods. An impairment loss 

for other assets is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the assets’ recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. 

 
  An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not 

exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, if no 
impairment loss had been recognised.  

 
  Such reversals are recognised as income immediately in profit or loss. 
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
4.10 Inventories  
 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  
 
Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out formula. The cost of raw materials comprises 
the all costs of purchase plus the cost of bringing the inventories to their present location and 
condition. The cost of work-in-progress and finished goods includes the cost of raw materials, 
direct labour, other direct cost and a proportion of production overheads based on normal 
operating capacity of the production facilities. 
 
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the 
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 

 
4.11 Financial instruments 

 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one enterprise and 
a financial liability or equity instrument of another enterprise. 
 
A financial asset is any asset that is cash, an equity instrument of another enterprise, a 
contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset from another enterprise, or a 
contractual right to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another enterprise 
under conditions that are potentially favourable to the Group. 
 
A financial liability is any liability that is a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another 
financial asset to another enterprise, or a contractual obligation to exchange financial assets 
or financial liabilities with another enterprise under conditions that are potentially 
unfavourable to the Group. 
 
Financial instruments are recognised on the statement of financial position when the Group 
has become a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. At initial recognition, a 
financial instrument is recognised at fair value plus, in the case of a financial instrument not 
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issuance of the financial instrument. 
 
An embedded derivative is separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative 
if, and only if the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative is not closely 
related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract, a separate instrument 
with the same terms as the embedded derivative meets the definition of a derivative, and the 
hybrid instrument is not measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
(a) Financial assets 

  
A financial asset is classified into the following four categories after initial recognition 
for the purpose of subsequent measurement:  

  
  (i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

   
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprise financial assets that are 
held for trading (i.e. financial assets acquired principally for the purpose of resale 
in the near term), derivatives (both, freestanding and embedded) and financial 
assets that were specifically designated into this classification upon initial 
recognition.   
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
4.11 Financial instruments (continued) 

 
(a) Financial assets (continued) 

  
  (i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued) 

   
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets classified as at fair value through 
profit or loss are measured at fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes 
in the fair value of financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss 
are recognised in profit or loss. Net gains or losses on financial assets classified as 
at fair value through profit or loss exclude foreign exchange gains and losses, 
interest and dividend income. Such income is recognised separately in profit or loss 
as components of other income or other operating losses. 

  
However, derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of unquoted 
equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market are 
recognised at cost. 
  

 (ii) Held-to-maturity investments 
  

 Financial assets classified as held-to-maturity comprise non-derivative financial 
assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the Group has 
the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. 

  

 Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets classified as held-to-maturity are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains or losses on 
financial assets classified as held-to-maturity are recognised in profit or loss when 
the financial assets are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation 
process. 

  

(iii) Loans and receivables 
  

 Financial assets classified as loans and receivables comprise non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. 

  
 Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets classified as loans and receivables 

are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains or losses 
on financial assets classified as loans and receivables are recognised in profit or 
loss when the financial assets are derecognised or impaired, and through the 
amortisation process. 

  
(iv) Available-for-sale financial assets 

  
 Financial assets classified as available-for-sale comprise non-derivative financial 

assets that are designated as available-for-sale or are not classified as loans and 
receivables, held-to-maturity investments or financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss. 

  
 Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets classified as available-for-sale are 

measured at fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of 
financial assets classified as available-for-sale are recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income, except for impairment losses and foreign exchange gains 
and losses, until the financial asset is derecognised, at which time the cumulative 
gains or losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income are recognised 
in profit or loss. However, interest calculated using the effective interest method is 
recognised in profit or loss whilst dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments 
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive payment is 
established. 
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
4.11 Financial instruments (continued) 

 
(a) Financial assets (continued) 

   
  Cash and cash equivalents include cash and bank balances, bank overdrafts, deposits and 

other short term, highly liquid investments, which are readily convertible to cash and are 
subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 

 
  A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual right to receive cash flows from 

the financial asset has expired. On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the 
difference between the carrying amount and the sum of consideration received (including 
any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and any cumulative gain or loss 
that had been recognised directly in other comprehensive income shall be recognised in 
profit or loss. 

 
  A regular way purchase or sale is a purchase or sale of a financial asset under a contract 

whose terms require delivery of the asset within the time frame established generally by 
regulation or marketplace convention. A regular way purchase or sale of financial assets 
shall be recognised and derecognised, as applicable, using trade date accounting. 

  
 (b) Financial liabilities 
  

 Financial instruments are classified as liabilities or equity in accordance with the 
substance of the contractual arrangement. A financial liability is classified into the 
following two categories after initial recognition for the purpose of subsequent 
measurement: 

   
(i) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

   
 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss comprise financial liabilities 

that are held for trading, derivatives (both, freestanding and embedded) and 
financial liabilities that were specifically designated into this classification upon 
initial recognition.   

  
 Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities classified as at fair value 

through profit or loss are measured at fair value. Any gains or losses arising from 
changes in the fair value of financial liabilities classified as at fair value through 
profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss. Net gains or losses on financial 
liabilities classified as at fair value through profit or loss exclude foreign exchange 
gains and losses, interest and dividend income. Such income is recognised 
separately in profit or loss as components of other income or other operating 
losses. 

   
(ii) Other financial liabilities 

   
 Financial liabilities classified as other financial liabilities comprise non-derivative 

financial liabilities that are neither held for trading nor initially designated as at fair 
value through profit or loss. 

   
 Subsequent to initial recognition, other financial liabilities are measured at 

amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains or losses on other 
financial liabilities are recognised in profit or loss when the financial liabilities are 
derecognised and through the amortisation process. 
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
4.11 Financial instruments (continued) 

 
 (b) Financial liabilities (continued) 

 
A financial liability is derecognised when, and only when, it is extinguished, i.e. when 
the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires. An 
exchange between an existing borrower and lender of debt instruments with substantially 
different terms are accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability 
and the recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, a substantial modification of 
the terms of an existing financial liability is accounted for as an extinguishment of the 
original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. 
 
The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability extinguished or 
transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets 
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss. 

 
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified 
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to 
make payment when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt 
instrument. 
 
The Group designates corporate guarantees given to banks for credit facilities granted to 
subsidiaries as insurance contracts as defined in FRS 4 Insurance Contracts. The Group 
recognises these insurance contracts as recognised insurance liabilities when there is a 
present obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past event, when it is probable 
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
 
At the end of every reporting period, the Group shall assess whether its recognised 
insurance liabilities are adequate, using current estimates of future cash flows under its 
insurance contracts. If this assessment shows that the carrying amount of the insurance 
liabilities is inadequate, the entire deficiency shall be recognised in profit or loss. 

 
Recognised insurance liabilities are only removed from the statement of financial 
position when, and only when, it is extinguished via a discharge, cancellation or 
expiration. 

 
(c) Equity 

  
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the 
Group and the Company after deducting all of its liabilities. Ordinary shares are 
classified as equity instruments. 

  
Ordinary shares are recorded at the nominal value and proceeds in excess of the nominal 
value of shares issued, if any, are accounted for as share premium.  Both ordinary shares 
and share premium are classified as equity.  Transaction costs of an equity transaction are 
accounted for as a deduction from equity, net of any related income tax benefit.  
Otherwise, they are charged to profit or loss. 

 
Dividends to shareholders are recognised in equity in the period in which they are 
declared. 
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
4.11 Financial instruments (continued) 

 
(c) Equity (continued) 

  
If the Company reacquires its own equity instruments, the consideration paid, including 
any attributable transaction costs is deducted from equity as treasury shares until they are 
cancelled. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or 
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments. Where such shares are issued by 
resale, the difference between the sales consideration and the carrying amount is shown 
as a movement in equity. 

 
Following the adoption of FRS 139 during the financial year, the Group reassessed the 
classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities as at 1 July 2010.  
Consequently, the Group reclassified and remeasured financial assets and financial liabilities 
as disclosed in Note 45 to the financial statements. 

 
4.12 Impairment of financial assets 
 

  The Group assesses whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired 
at the end of each reporting period. 

  
(a)   Loans and receivables 

  
The Group collectively considers factors such as the probability of bankruptcy or 
significant financial difficulties of the receivable, and default or significant delay in 
payments to determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on 
loans and receivables has occurred. Other objective evidence of impairment include 
historical collection rates determined on an individual basis and observable changes in 
national or local economic conditions that are directly correlated with the historical 
default rates of receivables. 
 
If any such objective evidence exists, the amount of impairment loss is measured as the 
difference between the financial asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest 
rate. The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
The carrying amount of loans and receivables is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account. 
  
If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and it objectively 
relates to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset 
does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount of impairment 
reversed is recognised in profit or loss. 

 



Company No: 30 
37918 - A  

 
 
 
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
4.12 Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

 
(b)  Available-for-sale financial assets 

  
The Group collectively considers factors such as significant or prolonged decline in fair 
value below cost, significant financial difficulties of the issuer or obligor, and the 
disappearance of an active trading market as objective evidence that available-for-sale 
financial assets are impaired. 
 
If any such objective evidence exists, an amount comprising the difference between the 
financial asset’s cost (net of any principal payment and amortisation) and current fair 
value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss, is transferred from 
equity to profit or loss. 
  
Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments are not reversed in profit or 
loss in the subsequent periods. Instead, any increase in the fair value subsequent to the 
impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. 
 
Impairment losses on available-for-sale debt investments are subsequently reversed in 
profit or loss if the increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively related 
to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss in profit or loss. 
 

4.13 Borrowing costs 
 

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 
 

4.14 Income taxes 
 

Income taxes include all taxes on taxable profits. Income taxes also include other taxes such as 
withholding taxes. 
 
Taxes in the statement of comprehensive income comprise current tax and deferred tax. 

 
(a) Current tax  

 
Current tax is the amount of income taxes payable or receivable in respect of the taxable 
profit or loss for a period. 
 
Current tax for the current and prior periods is measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to 
compute the amount are those that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end 
of the reporting period. 

 
(b) Deferred tax 

 
Deferred tax is recognised in full using the liability method on temporary differences 
arising between the carrying amount of an asset or liability in the statement of financial 
position and its tax base. 
 
Deferred tax is recognised for all temporary differences, unless the deferred tax arises 
from goodwill or the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not 
a business combination and at the time of transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor 
taxable profit. 
 



Company No: 31 
37918 - A  

 
 
 
4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
4.14 Income taxes (continued) 

 
(b) Deferred tax (continued) 

 
A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits 
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses 
and unused tax credits can be utilised. The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is 
reviewed at the end of each reporting period. If it is no longer probable that sufficient 
taxable profits will be available to allow the benefit of part or all of that deferred tax asset 
to be utilised, the carrying amount of the deferred tax asset will be reduced accordingly. 
When it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available, such reductions 
will be reversed to the extent of the taxable profits. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set 
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes 
relate to the same taxation authority on either: 

 
(i) the same taxable entity; or  
 
(ii) different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and 

assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, 
in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or 
assets are expected to be settled or recovered. 
 

Deferred tax will be recognised as income or expense and included in the profit or loss for 
the period unless the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, in the same or a 
different period, directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax will be charged or 
credited directly to equity. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply 
to the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax 
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting period. 

 
4.15 Provisions 
 

Provisions are recognised when there is a present obligation, legal or constructive, as a result 
of a past event, and when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. 
 
Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount of a provision will be 
discounted to its present value at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. 

 
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current 
best estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation, the provision will be reversed. 

 
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. If the Group has a contract that is 
onerous, the present obligation under the contract shall be recognised and measured as a 
provision. 
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
4.16 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 

 
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose existence will 
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events 
beyond the control of the Group or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not 
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation. A contingent 
liability also arises in extremely rare cases where there is a liability that cannot be recognised 
because it cannot be measured reliably. The Group does not recognise a contingent liability but 
discloses its existence in the financial statements. 
 
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events whose existence will be 
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond 
the control of the Group. The Group does not recognise a contingent asset but disclose its 
existence where the inflows of economic benefits are probable, but not virtually certain. 
 
In the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group under business combinations, contingent 
liabilities assumed are measured initially at their fair value at the acquisition date, irrespective 
of the extent of any non-controlling interest. 

 
4.17 Employee benefits  
 

(a) Short term employee benefits 
 

Wages, salaries, social security contributions, paid annual leave, paid sick leave, bonuses 
and non-monetary benefits are recognised as an expense in the financial year when 
employees have rendered their services to the Group. 
 
Short term accumulating compensated absences such as paid annual leave are recognised 
as an expense when employees render services that increase their entitlement to future 
compensated absences. Short term non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick 
leave are recognised when the absences occur. 
 
Bonuses are recognised as an expense when there is a present, legal or constructive 
obligation to make such payments, as a result of past events and when a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

 
(b) Defined contribution plan 

 
The Company and its subsidiaries make contributions to a statutory provident fund. The 
contributions are recognised as a liability after deducting any contribution already paid 
and as an expense in the period in which the employees render their services. 

 
(c) Defined benefit plan 

 
The amount recognised as a liability in respect of a defined benefit plan is the present 
value of the defined benefit obligations at the end of reporting period adjusted for 
unrecognised actuarial gains and losses and unrecognised past service cost. 
 
The Group determines the present value of the defined benefit obligations with 
sufficient regularity such that the amounts recognised in the financial statements do not 
differ materially from the amounts that would be determined at the end of reporting 
period. 
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
4.17 Employee benefits (continued) 
 

(d) Defined benefit plan (continued) 
 

The present value of the defined benefit obligations and the related current service cost 
and past service cost is determined using the projected unit credit method. The rate used 
to discount the obligations is based on market yields as at the end of reporting period of 
government securities which have currency and terms consistent with the currency and 
estimated terms of the obligations. 
 
Actuarial gains and losses may result from changes in the present value of the plan assets. 
They are recognised as income or expense over the expected average remaining working 
lives of the employees participating in that plan.  

 
4.18 Foreign currency transactions and translation 
 

(a) Functional and presentation currency 
 

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured 
using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates 
(“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
Ringgit Malaysia, which is also the Company’s functional and presentation currency. 

 
(b) Foreign currency translations and balances 

 
Transactions in foreign currencies are converted into Ringgit Malaysia at rates of 
exchange ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign 
currencies at the end of the reporting period are translated into Ringgit Malaysia at rates 
of exchange ruling at that date unless hedged by forward foreign exchange contracts, in 
which case the rates specified in such forward contracts are used. All exchange 
differences arising from the settlement of foreign currency transactions and from the 
translation of foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are included in profit or loss 
in the period in which they arise. Non-monetary items initially denominated in foreign 
currencies, which are carried at historical cost are translated using the historical rate as of 
the date of acquisition, and non-monetary items which are carried at fair value are 
translated using the exchange rate that existed when the values were determined for 
presentation currency purposes. 

 
4.19 Revenue recognition 
 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable net of 
discounts and rebates.  
 
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that economic benefits associated with 
the transaction will flow to the Group, and the amount of revenue and the cost incurred or to be 
incurred in respect of the transaction can be reliably measured and specific recognition criteria 
have been met for each of the Group’s activities as follows: 

  
(a) Sale of goods 

 
Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when significant risks and rewards of 
ownership of the goods have been transferred to the customer and where the Group 
retains no continuing managerial involvement over the goods, which coincides with the 
delivery of goods and services and acceptance by customers.  

 
(b) Dividend income 

 
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. 
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
4.19 Revenue recognition (continued) 
 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that economic benefits associated with 
the transaction will flow to the Group, and the amount of revenue and the cost incurred or to 
be incurred in respect of the transaction can be reliably measured and specific recognition 
criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities as follows (continued): 

  
(c) Management and other fees 

 
Management and other fees arising from services rendered are recognised as and when 
the services are performed. 

 
(d)   Interest income 

 
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis, taking into account the 
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate over the period to maturity. 

 
(e) Rental income 

 
Rental income is accounted for on a straight line basis over the lease term of an 
ongoing lease.   

 
4.20 Non-current assets held for sale  
 

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to be the 
case, the assets must be available for immediate sale in their present condition subject only 
to terms that are usual and customary for sales of such assets and its sales must be highly 
probable. The probability of shareholders’ approval (if required in the jurisdiction) is 
considered as part of the assessment of whether the sale is highly probable. 
 
The sale is expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the 
date of classification. However, an extension of the period required to complete the sale 
does not preclude the assets from being classified as held for sale if the delay is caused by 
events or circumstances beyond the control of the Group and there is sufficient evidence 
that the Group remains committed to its plan to sell the assets. 
 
When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of 
the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria 
described above are met, regardless of whether the Group retains a non-controlling interest 
in its former subsidiary after the sale or otherwise. 

 
Immediately before initial classification as held for sale, the carrying amounts of the non-
current assets are measured in accordance with applicable FRSs. On initial classification as 
held for sale, non-current assets (other than investment properties, deferred tax assets and 
financial assets carried at fair value) are measured at the lower of carrying amount before the 
initial classification as held for sale and fair value less costs to sell. The differences, if any, 
are recognised in profit or loss as impairment loss. 
 
The Group measures a non-current asset classified as held for distribution to owners at the 
lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to distribute. 
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
4.20 Non-current assets held for sale (continued) 

 
Non-current assets held for sale are classified as current assets in the statement of financial 
position and are stated at the lower of carrying amount immediately before initial 
classification and fair value less costs to sell and are not depreciated.  Any cumulative 
income or expense recognised directly in equity relating to the non-current asset classified as 
held for sale is presented separately. 
 
If the Group has classified an asset as held for sale but subsequently the criteria for 
classification is no longer met, the Group ceases to classify the asset as held for sale. The 
Group measures a non-current asset that ceases to be classified as held for sale at the lower 
of: 

 
(a) its carrying amount before the asset was classified as held for sale, adjusted for any 

depreciation, amortisation or revaluations that would have been recognised had the 
asset not been classified as held for sale; and 

 
(b) its recoverable amount at the date of the subsequent decision not to sell. 

 
4.21 Operating segments 
  

  Following the adoption of FRS 8 Operating Segments during the previous financial year, 
operating segments are defined as components of the Group that: 

  
(a) engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses 

(including revenues and expenses relating to transactions with other components of the 
Group); 

   
(b) whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the Group’s chief operating decision 

maker (i.e. the Group’s Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer) in making 
decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assessing its performance; 
and 

 
(c) for which discrete financial information is available. 

  
  An operating segment may engage in business activities for which it has yet to earn 

revenues. 
 

The Group reports separately information about each operating segment that meets any of 
the following quantitative thresholds: 

 
(a) Its reported revenue, including both sales to external customers and intersegment sales 

or transfers, is 10 per cent or more of the combined revenue, internal and external, of 
all operating segments. 

 
(b) The absolute amount of its reported profit or loss is 10 per cent or more of the greater, 

in absolute amount of:  
 
(i) the combined reported profit of all operating segments that did not report a loss; 

and  
 
(ii) the combined reported loss of all operating segments that reported a loss. 

  
(c) Its assets are 10 per cent or more of the combined assets of all operating segments. 
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 
4.21 Operating segments (continued) 
  

Operating segments that do not meet any of the quantitative thresholds may be considered 
reportable, and separately disclosed, if the management believes that information about the 
segment would be useful to users of the financial statements. 
 
Total external revenue reported by operating segments shall constitute at least 75 percent of 
the Group’s revenue. Operating segments identified as reportable segments in the current 
financial year in accordance with the quantitative thresholds would result in a restatement of 
prior period segment data for comparative purposes. 

 
4.22 Basic earnings per share 
  

Basic earnings per ordinary share for the financial year is calculated by dividing the profit 
for the financial year attributable to equity holders of the parent by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year. 
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5. ADOPTION OF NEW FRSs AND AMENDMENTS TO FRSs  
 
5.1 New FRS adopted during the current financial year 

 
(a) FRS 4 Insurance Contracts and the consequential amendments resulting from FRS 4 

are mandatory for annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010. FRS 
4 replaces the existing FRS 2022004 General Insurance Business and FRS 2032004 Life 
Insurance Business. 

  
This Standard applies to all insurance contracts, including reinsurance contracts that an 
entity issues and to reinsurance contracts that it holds. This Standard prohibits 
provisions for potential claims under contracts that are not in existence at the end of 
the reporting period, and requires a test for the adequacy of recognised insurance 
liabilities and an impairment test for reinsurance assets. This Standard also requires an 
insurer to keep insurance liabilities in its statement of financial position until they are 
discharged or cancelled, or expire, and to present insurance liabilities without 
offsetting them against related reinsurance assets.  
 
Following the adoption of this Standard, the Group designates corporate guarantees 
given to banks for credit facilities granted to subsidiaries as insurance contracts. The 
Group recognises these insurance contracts as recognised insurance liabilities when 
there is a present obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a past event, when it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. 

 
(b) FRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures and the consequential amendments 

resulting from FRS 7 are mandatory for annual financial periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2010. FRS 7 replaces the disclosure requirements of the existing FRS 132 
Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation. 

  
 This Standard applies to all risks arising from a wide array of financial instruments and 

requires the disclosure of the significance of financial instruments for the Group’s 
financial position and performance. 

  
(c) FRS 123 Borrowing Costs and the consequential amendments resulting from FRS 123 

are mandatory for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010. 
  
 This Standard removes the option of immediately recognising as an expense borrowing 

costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a 
qualifying asset.  However, capitalisation of borrowing costs is not required for assets 
measured at fair value, and inventories that are manufactured or produced in large 
quantities on a repetitive basis, even if they take a substantial period of time to get 
ready for use or sale. 

  
 There is no impact upon adoption of this Standard during the financial year. 
 
(d) FRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and the consequential 

amendments resulting from FRS 139 are mandatory for annual financial periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2010. 

  
This Standard establishes the principles for the recognition and measurement of 
financial assets and financial liabilities including circumstances under which hedge 
accounting is permitted. 
   

The impact upon adoption of this Standard is disclosed in Note 45 to the financial 
statements. 
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5. ADOPTION OF NEW FRSs AND AMENDMENTS TO FRSs (continued) 
 
5.1 New FRS adopted during the current financial year (continued) 

   
(e) Amendments to FRS 2 Share-based Payment: Vesting Conditions and Cancellations 

are mandatory for annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010. 
  

These amendments clarify that vesting conditions comprise service conditions and 
performance conditions only. Cancellations by parties other than the Group are 
accounted for in the same manner as cancellations by the Group itself and features of a 
share-based payment that are non-vesting conditions are included in the grant date fair 
value of the share-based payment. 
  
There is no impact upon adoption of these amendments during the financial year. 

 
(f) Amendments to FRS 1 First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards and FRS 

127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements: Cost of an Investment in a 
Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate are mandatory for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2010. 

    
These amendments allow first-time adopters to use a deemed cost of either fair value 
or the carrying amount under previous accounting practice to measure the initial cost 
of investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates in the separate 
financial statements. The cost method of accounting for an investment has also been 
removed pursuant to these amendments. 
 
There is no impact upon adoption of these amendments during the financial year. 

 
(g) IC Interpretation 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives is mandatory for annual 

financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010. 
   

 This Interpretation prohibits the subsequent reassessment of embedded derivatives 
unless there is a change in the terms of the host contract that significantly modifies the 
cash flows that would otherwise be required by the host contract. 

   
 There is no impact upon adoption of this Interpretation during the financial year. 
   
(h) IC Interpretation 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment is mandatory for 

annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010. 
   
 This Interpretation prohibits the reversal of an impairment loss recognised in a 

previous interim period in respect of goodwill or an investment in either an equity 
instrument or a financial asset carried at cost. 

   
 There is no impact upon adoption of this Interpretation during the financial year. 
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5. ADOPTION OF NEW FRSs AND AMENDMENTS TO FRSs (continued) 
 
5.1 New FRS adopted during the current financial year (continued) 

 
(i) IC Interpretation 11 FRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions is mandatory for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010. 
   
 This Interpretation requires share-based payment transactions in which the Company 

receives services from employees as consideration for its own equity instruments to be 
accounted for as equity-settled, regardless of the manner of satisfying the obligations 
to the employees. 

   
 If the Company grants rights to its equity instruments to the employees of its 

subsidiaries, this Interpretation requires the Company to recognise the equity reserve 
for the obligation to deliver the equity instruments when needed whilst the subsidiaries 
shall recognise the remuneration expense for the services received from employees. 

 
 If the subsidiaries grant rights to equity instruments of the Company to its employees, 

this Interpretation requires the Company to account for the transaction as cash-settled, 
regardless of the manner the subsidiaries obtain the equity instruments to satisfy its 
obligations. 

 
 There is no impact upon adoption of this Interpretation during the financial year. 
 
 The Group would like to draw attention to the withdrawal of this Interpretation for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011 as disclosed in Note 5.2(d) to the 
financial statements. 

 
(j) IC Interpretation 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes is mandatory for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2010. 
   
 This Interpretation requires the separation of award credits as a separately identifiable 

component of sales transactions involving the award of free or discounted goods or 
services in the future. The fair value of the consideration received or receivable from 
the initial sale shall be allocated between the award credits and the other components 
of the sale. 
 
If the Group supplies the awards itself, the consideration allocated to the award credits 
shall only be recognised as revenue when the award credits are redeemed. If a third 
party supplies the awards, the Group shall assess whether it is acting as a principal or 
agent in the transaction. 
 
If the Group is acting as the principal in the transaction, it shall measure its revenue as 
the gross consideration allocated to the award credits. If the Group is acting as an 
agent, it shall measure its revenue as the net amount retained on its own account, and 
recognise the net amount as revenue when the third party becomes obliged to supply 
the awards and entitled to receive the consideration for doing so. 
 
There is no impact upon adoption of this Interpretation during the financial year. 
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5. ADOPTION OF NEW FRSs AND AMENDMENTS TO FRSs (continued) 
 
5.1 New FRS adopted during the current financial year (continued) 

 
(k)   IC Interpretation 14 FRS 119 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum 

Funding Requirements and their Interaction is mandatory for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2010. 

 
This Interpretation applies to all post-employment defined benefits and other long-
term employee defined benefits. This Interpretation clarifies that an economic benefit 
is available if the Company can realise it at some point during the life of the plan or 
when the plan liabilities are settled, and that it does not depend on how the Group 
intends to use the surplus. 
 
A right to refund is available to the Group in stipulated circumstances and the 
economic benefit available shall be measured as the amount of the surplus at the end of 
the reporting period less any associated costs. If there are no minimum funding 
requirements, the economic benefit available shall be determined as a reduction in 
future contributions as the lower of the surplus in the plan and the present value of the 
future service cost to the Group. If there is a minimum funding requirement for 
contributions relating to the future accrual of benefits, the economic benefit available 
shall be determined as a reduction in future contributions at the present value of the 
estimated future service cost less the estimated minimum funding required in each 
financial year. 
 
There is no impact upon adoption of this Interpretation during the financial year. 
 

(l)  FRS 101 Presentation of Financial Statements is mandatory for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2010. 

 
FRS 101 sets out the overall requirements for the presentation of financial statements, 
guidelines for their structure and minimum requirements for their content. 
 
This Standard introduces the titles “statement of financial position” and “statement of 
cash flows” to replace the current titles “balance sheet” and “cash flow statement” 
respectively.  A new statement known as the ‘statement of comprehensive income’ is 
also introduced in this Standard whereby all non-owner changes in equity are required 
to be presented in either one statement of comprehensive income or in two statements 
(i.e. a separate income statement and a statement of comprehensive income).  
Components of comprehensive income are not permitted to be presented in the 
statement of changes in equity. 
 
This Standard also introduces a new requirement to present a statement of financial 
position as at the beginning of the earliest comparative period if there are applications 
of retrospective restatements that are defined in FRS 108, or when there are 
reclassifications of items in the financial statements. 
 
Additionally, FRS 101 requires the disclosure of reclassification adjustments and 
income tax relating to each component of other comprehensive income, and the 
presentation of dividends recognised as distributions to owners together with the 
related amounts per share in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes to the 
financial statements. 
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5. ADOPTION OF NEW FRSs AND AMENDMENTS TO FRSs (continued) 
 
5.1 New FRS adopted during the current financial year (continued) 

 
(l)  FRS 101 Presentation of Financial Statements is mandatory for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2010 (continued). 
 
This Standard introduces a new requirement to disclose information on the objectives, 
policies and processes for managing capital based on information provided internally 
to key management personnel as defined in FRS 124 Related Party Disclosures.  
Additional disclosures are also required for puttable financial instruments classified as 
equity instruments. 
 
Following the adoption of this Standard, the Group has reflected the new format of 
presentation and additional disclosures warranted in the primary financial statements 
and relevant notes to the financial statements. 

 
(m) Amendments to FRS 139, FRS 7 and IC Interpretation 9 are mandatory for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010. 
  

These amendments permit reclassifications of non-derivative financial assets (other 
than those designated at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition) out 
of the fair value through profit or loss category in rare circumstances. Reclassifications 
from the available-for-sale category to the loans and receivables category are also 
permitted provided there is intention and ability to hold that financial asset for the 
foreseeable future. All of these reclassifications shall be subjected to subsequent 
reassessments of embedded derivatives. 
  
These amendments also clarify the designation of one-sided risk in eligible hedged 
items and streamline the terms used throughout the Standards in accordance with the 
changes resulting from FRS 101. 
  
There is no impact upon adoption of these amendments during the financial year. 

 
(n)  Amendments to FRS 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation are mandatory for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010. 
 

These amendments require certain puttable financial instruments, and financial 
instruments that impose an obligation to deliver to counterparties a pro rata share of 
the net assets of the entity only on liquidation to be classified as equity. 
 
Puttable financial instruments are defined as financial instruments that give the holder 
the right to put the instrument back to the issuer for cash, or another financial asset, or 
are automatically put back to the issuer upon occurrence of an uncertain future event 
or the death or retirement of the instrument holder. 
 
There is no impact upon adoption of these amendments during the financial year. 
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5. ADOPTION OF NEW FRSs AND AMENDMENTS TO FRSs (continued) 
 
5.1 New FRS adopted during the current financial year (continued) 
 

(o)     Improvements to FRSs (2009) are mandatory for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2010. 

 
Amendment to FRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations 
clarifies that the disclosure requirements of this Standard specifically apply to non-
current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale or discontinued 
operations. There is no impact upon adoption of this amendment during the financial 
year. 
 
Amendment to FRS 8 clarifies the consistency of disclosure requirement for 
information about profit or loss, assets and liabilities. There is no impact upon 
adoption of this amendment during the financial year. 
 
Amendment to FRS 107 Statement of Cash Flows clarifies the classification of cash 
flows arising from operating activities and investing activities. Cash payments to 
manufacture or acquire assets held for rental to others and subsequently held for sale, 
and the related cash receipts, shall be classified as cash flows from operating activities. 
Expenditures that result in a recognised asset in the statement of financial position are 
eligible for classification as cash flows from investing activities. There is no impact 
upon adoption of this amendment during the financial year. 
 
Amendment to FRS 108 clarifies that only Implementation Guidance issued by the 
MASB that are integral parts of FRSs is mandatory. There is no impact upon adoption 
of this amendment during the financial year. 
 
Amendment to FRS 110 Events after the Reporting Period clarifies the rationale for 
not recognising dividends declared after the reporting period but before the financial 
statements are authorised for issue. There is no impact upon adoption of this 
amendment during the financial year. 
 
Amendment to FRS 116 Property, Plant and Equipment removes the definition 
pertaining the applicability of this Standard to property that is being constructed or 
developed for future use as investment property but do not yet satisfy the definition of 
‘investment property’ in FRS 140 Investment Property. This amendment also replaces 
the term ‘net selling price’ with ‘fair value less costs to sell’, and clarifies that 
proceeds arising from routine sale of items of property, plant and equipment shall be 
recognised as revenue in accordance with FRS 118 Revenue rather than FRS 5. There 
is no impact upon adoption of this amendment during the financial year. 

 
Amendment to FRS 117 Leases removes the classification of leases of land and of 
buildings, and instead, requires assessment of classification based on the risks and 
rewards of the lease itself. The reassessment of land elements of unexpired leases shall 
be made retrospectively in accordance with FRS 108. At the end of reporting period, 
the Group has carrying amount of prepaid lease payments for land of RM33,119,000 
(see Note 7 to the financial statements) that has been reclassified as land held in 
accordance with FRS 116 upon adoption of this amendment. 
 
Amendment to FRS 118 clarifies reference made on the term ‘transaction costs’ to the 
definition in FRS 139. There is no impact upon adoption of this amendment during the 
financial year. 
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5. ADOPTION OF NEW FRSs AND AMENDMENTS TO FRSs (continued) 
 
5.1 New FRS adopted during the current financial year (continued) 
 

(o)     Improvements to FRSs (2009) are mandatory for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2010 (continued). 

 
Amendment to FRS 119 Employee Benefits clarifies the definitions in this Standard by 
consistently applying settlement dates within twelve months in the distinction between 
short-term employee benefits and other long-term employee benefits. This amendment 
also provides additional explanations on negative past service cost and curtailments. 
There is no impact upon adoption of this amendment during the financial year. 

 
Amendment to FRS 120 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of 
Government Assistance streamlines the terms used in this Standard in accordance with 
the new terms used in FRS 101.  There is no impact upon adoption of this amendment 
during the financial year. 
 
Amendment to FRS 123 clarifies that interest expense calculated using the effective 
interest rate method described in FRS 139 qualifies for recognition as borrowing costs.  
There is no impact upon adoption of this amendment during the financial year. 
 
Amendment to FRS 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements clarifies that 
investments measured at cost shall be accounted for in accordance with FRS 5 when 
they are held for sale in accordance with FRS 5. There is no impact upon adoption of 
this amendment during the financial year. 
 
Amendment to FRS 128 Investments in Associates clarifies that investments in 
associates held by venture capital organisations, or mutual funds, unit trusts and 
similar entities shall make disclosures on the nature and extent of any significant 
restrictions on the ability of associates to transfer funds to the investor in the form of 
cash dividends, or repayment of loans or advances. This amendment also clarifies that 
impairment loss recognised in accordance with FRS 136 Impairment of Assets shall 
not be allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms the carrying amount of the 
investment. Accordingly, any reversal of that impairment loss shall be recognised in 
accordance with FRS 136. There is no impact upon adoption of this amendment during 
the financial year. 
 
Amendment to FRS 129 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies 
streamlines the terms used in this Standard in accordance with the new terms used in 
FRS 101.  This amendment also clarifies that assets and liabilities that are measured at 
fair value are exempted from the requirement to apply historical cost basis of 
accounting.  There is no impact upon adoption of this amendment during the financial 
year. 
 
Amendment to FRS 131 Interests in Joint Ventures clarifies that venturers’ interests in 
jointly controlled entities held by venture capital organisations, or mutual funds, unit 
trusts and similar entities shall make disclosures on related capital commitments.  This 
amendment also clarifies that a listing and description of interests in significant joint 
ventures and the proportion of ownership interest held in jointly controlled entities 
shall be made. There is no impact upon adoption of this amendment during the 
financial year. 
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5. ADOPTION OF NEW FRSs AND AMENDMENTS TO FRSs (continued) 
 
5.1 New FRS adopted during the current financial year (continued) 
 

(o)     Improvements to FRSs (2009) are mandatory for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2010 (continued). 

 
Amendment to FRS 136 clarifies the determination of allocation of goodwill to each 
cash-generating unit whereby each unit shall not be larger than an operating segment 
as defined in FRS 8 before aggregation. This amendment also requires additional 
disclosures if the fair value less costs to sell is determined using discounted cash flow 
projections. There is no impact upon adoption of this amendment during the financial 
year. 
 
Amendment to FRS 138 Intangible Assets clarifies the examples provided in this 
Standard in measuring the fair value of an intangible asset acquired in a business 
combination. This amendment also removes the statement on the rarity of situations 
whereby the application of the amortisation method for intangible assets results in a 
lower amount of accumulated amortisation than under the straight line method. There 
is no impact upon adoption of this amendment during the financial year. 
 
Amendment to FRS 140 clarifies that properties that are being constructed or 
developed for future use as investment property are within the definition of 
“investment property”. This amendment further clarifies that if the fair value of such 
properties cannot be reliably determinable but it is expected that the fair value would 
be readily determinable when construction is complete, the properties shall be 
measured at cost until either its fair value becomes reliably determinable or 
construction is completed, whichever is earlier. There is no impact upon adoption of 
this amendment during the financial year. 

 
(p) Amendments to FRS 132 are mandatory for annual periods beginning on or after              

1 January 2010 and 1 March 2010 in respect of the transitional provisions in 
accounting for compound financial instruments and classification of right issues 
respectively. 
 
These amendments remove the transitional provisions in respect of accounting for 
compound financial instruments issued before 1 January 2003 pursuant to FRS 1322004 
Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation. Such compound financial 
instruments shall be classified into its liability and equity components when FRS 139 
first applies. 
 
The amendments also clarify that rights, options or warrants to acquire a fixed number 
of the Company’s own equity instruments for a fixed amount of any currency shall be 
classified as equity instruments rather than financial liabilities if the Company offers 
the rights, options or warrants pro rata to all of its own existing owners of the same 
class of its own non-derivative equity instruments. 
 
There is no impact upon adoption of these amendments during the financial year. 
 

(q) Amendments to FRS 139 are mandatory for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2010. 

 
These amendments remove the scope exemption on contracts for contingent 
consideration in a business combination. Accordingly, such contracts shall be 
recognised and measured in accordance with the requirements of FRS 139.  
 
There is no impact upon adoption of these amendments during the financial year. 
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5. ADOPTION OF NEW FRSs AND AMENDMENTS TO FRSs (continued) 
 
5.1 New FRS adopted during the current financial year (continued) 
 

(r) IC Interpretation 12 Service Concession Arrangements is mandatory for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010. 

 
This Interpretation applies to operators for public-to-private service concession 
arrangements, whereby infrastructure within the scope of this Interpretation shall not 
be recognised as property, plant and equipment of the operator. The operator shall 
recognise and measure revenue in accordance with FRS 111 Construction Contracts 
and FRS 118 for the services performed. The operator shall also account for revenue 
and costs relating to construction or upgrade services in accordance with FRS 111. 
 
Consideration received or receivable by the operator for the provision of construction 
or upgrade services shall be recognised at its fair value. If the consideration consists of 
an unconditional contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset from the 
grantor, it shall be classified as a financial asset. Conversely, if the consideration 
consists of a right to charge users of the public service, it shall be classified as an 
intangible asset. 
 
There is no impact upon adoption of this Interpretation during the financial year. 

 
(s) FRS 1 First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards is mandatory for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010. 
 

This Standard supersedes the existing FRS 1 and shall be applied when the Group 
adopts FRSs for the first time via the explicit and unreserved statement of compliance 
with FRSs. An opening FRS statement of financial position shall be prepared and 
presented at the date of transition to FRS, whereby: 
 
(i) All assets and liabilities shall be recognised in accordance with FRSs; 
(ii) Items of assets and liabilities shall not be recognised if FRSs do not permit such 

recognition; 
(iii) Items recognised in accordance with previous GAAP shall be reclassified in 

accordance with FRSs; and 
(iv) All recognised assets and liabilities shall be measured in accordance with FRSs. 
 
All resulting adjustments shall therefore be recognised directly in retained earnings at 
the date of transition to FRSs. 
 
There is no impact upon adoption of this Standard during the financial year. 
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5. ADOPTION OF NEW FRSs AND AMENDMENTS TO FRSs (continued) 
 
5.1 New FRS adopted during the current financial year (continued) 
 

(t) FRS 3 Business Combinations is mandatory for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
July 2010. 

 
This Standard supersedes the existing FRS 3 and now includes business combinations 
involving mutual entities and those achieved by way of contract alone. Any non-
controlling interest in an acquiree shall be measured at fair value or as the non-
controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets. 
 
The time limit on the adjustment to goodwill due to the arrival of new information on 
the crystallisation of deferred tax benefits shall be restricted to the measurement 
period resulting from the arrival of the new information. Contingent liabilities 
acquired arising from present obligations shall be recognised, regardless of the 
probability of outflow of economic resources. 
 
Acquisition-related costs shall be accounted for as expenses in the periods in which 
the costs are incurred and the services are received. Consideration transferred in a 
business combination, including contingent consideration, shall be measured and 
recognised at fair value at acquisition date. Any changes in the amount of 
consideration to be paid will no longer be adjusted against the goodwill but recognised 
in profit or loss. 
 
In business combinations achieved in stages, the acquirer shall remeasure its 
previously held equity interest at its acquisition date fair value and recognise the 
resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. 
 
The revised FRS 3 has been applied prospectively in accordance with its transitional 
provisions. Assets and liabilities that arose from business combinations whose 
acquisition dates were before 1 July 2010 are not adjusted. 
 
There is no impact upon adoption of this Standard during the financial year. 
 

(u) FRS 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements is mandatory for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010. 
 
This Standard supersedes the existing FRS 127 and replaces the current term 
“minority interest” with a new term “non-controlling interest” which is defined as the 
equity in a subsidiary that is not attributable, directly or indirectly, to a parent. 
Accordingly, total comprehensive income shall be attributed to the owners of the 
parent and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling 
interests having a deficit balance. 
 
Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss 
of control are accounted for as equity transactions. If the Group loses control of a 
subsidiary, any gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss and any investment 
retained in the former subsidiary shall be measured at its fair value at the date when 
control is lost. 
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5. ADOPTION OF NEW FRSs AND AMENDMENTS TO FRSs (continued) 
 
5.1 New FRS adopted during the current financial year (continued) 

 
(u) FRS 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements is mandatory for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010 (continued). 
 
According to its transitional provisions, the revised FRS 127 has been applied 
prospectively, and does not impact the Group’s consolidated financial statements in 
respect of transactions with non-controlling interest, attribution of losses to non-
controlling interest, and disposal of subsidiaries before 1 July 2010. These changes 
would only affect future transactions with non-controlling interest. 
 
As at the end of the reporting period, the Group has reclassified RM1,056,009 as non-
controlling interests and remeasured the non-controlling interests prospectively in 
accordance with the transitional provisions of FRS 127. 

 
(v) Amendments to FRSs are mandatory for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 

2010. 
 

Amendments to FRS 2 Share-based Payments clarify that transactions in which the 
Company acquired goods as part of the net assets acquired in a business combination 
or contribution of a business on the formation of a joint venture are excluded from the 
scope of this Standard. There is no impact upon adoption of these amendments during 
the financial year. 
 
Amendments to FRS 5 clarify that non-current asset classified as held for distribution 
to owners acting in their capacity as owners are within the scope of this Standard. The 
amendments also clarify that in determining whether a sale is highly probable, the 
probability of shareholders’ approval, if required in the jurisdiction, shall be 
considered. In a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all assets and 
liabilities of that subsidiary shall be classified as held for sale, regardless of whether 
the Group retains a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the sale.  
Discontinued operations information shall also be presented. Non-current asset 
classified as held for distribution to owners shall be measured at the lower of its 
carrying amount and fair value less costs to distribute. There is no impact upon 
adoption of these amendments during the financial year. 
 
Amendments to FRS 138 clarify that the intention of separating an intangible asset is 
irrelevant in determining the identifiability of the intangible asset. In a separate 
acquisition and acquisition as part of a business combination, the price paid by the 
Company reflects the expectations of the Company of an inflow of economic benefits, 
even if there is uncertainty about the timing or the amount of the inflow. Accordingly, 
the probability criterion is always considered to be satisfied for separately acquired 
intangible assets. The useful life of a reacquired right recognised as an intangible asset 
in a business combination shall be the remaining contractual period of the contract in 
which the right was granted, and do not include renewal periods. In the case of a 
reacquired right in a business combination, if the right is subsequently reissued to a 
third party, the related carrying amount shall be used in determining the gain or loss 
on reissue. There is no impact upon adoption of these amendments during the financial 
year. 
 
Amendments to IC Interpretation 9 clarify that embedded derivatives in contracts 
acquired in a business combination, combination of entities or business under 
common controls, or the formation of a joint venture are excluded from this 
Interpretation. There is no impact upon adoption of these amendments during the 
financial year. 
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5. ADOPTION OF NEW FRSs AND AMENDMENTS TO FRSs (continued) 
 
5.1 New FRS adopted during the current financial year (continued) 
 

(w) IC Interpretation 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation is mandatory 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010. 

 
This Interpretation applies to hedges undertaken on foreign currency risk arising from 
net investments in foreign operations and the Company wishes to qualify for hedge 
accounting in accordance with FRS 139. 
 
Hedge accounting is applicable only to the foreign exchange differences arising 
between the functional currency of the foreign operation and the functional currency 
of any parent (immediate, intermediate or ultimate parent) of that foreign operation.  
An exposure to foreign currency risk arising from a net investment in a foreign 
operation may qualify for hedge accounting only once in the consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
Hedging instruments designated in the hedge of a net investment in a foreign 
operation may be held by any companies within the Group, as long as the designation, 
documentation and effectiveness requirements of FRS 139 are met.  There is no 
impact upon adoption of this Interpretation during the financial year. 

 
(x) IC Interpretation 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners is mandatory for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010. 
 

This Interpretation applies to non-reciprocal distributions of non-cash assets by the 
Group to its owners in their capacity as owners, as well as distributions that give 
owners a choice of receiving either non-cash assets or a cash alternative. This 
Interpretation also applies to distributions in which all owners of the same class of 
equity instruments are treated equally. 
 
The liability to pay a dividend shall be recognised when the dividend is appropriately 
authorised and is no longer at the discretion of the Group. The liability shall be 
measured at the fair value of the assets to be distributed.  If the Group gives its owners 
a choice of receiving either a non-cash asset or a cash alternative, the dividend payable 
shall be estimated by considering the fair value of both alternatives and the associated 
probability of the owners’ selection. 
 
At the end of each reporting period, the carrying amount of the dividend payable shall 
be remeasured and any changes shall be recognised in equity. At the settlement date, 
any difference between the carrying amounts of the assets distributed and the carrying 
amount of the dividend payable shall be recognised in profit or loss. The new 
accounting policy has been applied prospectively.  
 
There is no impact upon adoption of this Interpretation during the financial year. 
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5. ADOPTION OF NEW FRSs AND AMENDMENTS TO FRSs (continued) 

 
5.2 New FRSs that have been issued, but not yet effective and not yet adopted 

 
(a) Amendment to FRS 1 Limited Exemption from Comparative FRS 7 Disclosures for 

First-time Adopters is mandatory for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2011. 

 
This amendment permits a first-time adopter of FRSs to apply the exemption of not 
restating comparatives for the disclosures required in Amendments to FRS 7. 
 
The Group does not expect any impact on the financial statements arising from the 
adoption of this amendment. 

 
(b) Amendments to FRS 1 Additional Exemptions for First-time Adopters are mandatory 

for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011. 
 

These amendments permit a first-time adopter of FRSs to apply the exemption of not 
restating the carrying amounts of oil and gas assets determined under previous GAAP. 
 
The Group does not expect any impact on the financial statements arising from the 
adoption of these amendments. 

 
(c) Amendments to FRS 7 Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments are 

mandatory for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011. 
 

These amendments require enhanced disclosures of fair value of financial instruments 
based on the fair value hierarchy, including the disclosure of significant transfers 
between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy as well as reconciliations for 
fair value measurements in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. 
 
By virtue of the exemption provided under paragraph 44G of FRS 7, the impact of 
applying these amendments on the financial statements upon first adoption of FRS 7 as 
required by paragraph 30(b) of FRS 108 are not disclosed. 

 
(d) Amendments to FRS 2 Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions are 

mandatory for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011. 
 

These amendments clarify the scope and the accounting for group cash-settled share-
based payment transactions in the separate financial statements of the entity receiving 
the goods or services when that entity has no obligation to settle the share-based 
payment transaction. 

 
Consequently, IC Interpretation 8 Scope of FRS 2 and IC Interpretation 11 have been 
superseded and withdrawn. 
 
The Group does not expect any impact on the financial statements arising from the 
adoption of these amendments. The effects of adopting IC Interpretation 11 have been 
disclosed in Note 5.1(i) to the financial statements. 
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5. ADOPTION OF NEW FRSs AND AMENDMENTS TO FRSs (continued) 

 
5.2 New FRSs that have been issued, but not yet effective and not yet adopted (continued) 

 
(e) IC Interpretation 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease is 

mandatory for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011. 
 

This Interpretation requires the determination of whether an arrangement is, or 
contains, a lease based on an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement 
is dependent on the use of a specific asset and whether the arrangement conveys a right 
to use the asset. This assessment shall be made at the inception of the arrangement and 
subsequently reassessed if certain condition(s) in the Interpretation is met. 
 
The Group does not expect any impact on the financial statements arising from the 
adoption of this Interpretation because there are no arrangements dependent on the use 
of specific assets in the Group. 
 

(f) IC Interpretation 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers is mandatory for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011. 

 

This Interpretation applies to agreements in which an entity receives from a customer 
an item of property, plant and equipment that must be used to either connect the 
customer to a network or to provide the customer with ongoing access to a supply of 
goods or services. The entity receiving the transferred item is required to assess 
whether the transferred item meets the definition of an asset set out in the Framework.  
The credit entry would be accounted for as revenue in accordance with FRS 118. 
 
The Group does not expect any impact on the financial statements arising from the 
adoption of this Interpretation because there are no such arrangements in the Group. 

 
(g) IC Interpretation 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate is mandatory for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012. 
 
 This Interpretation applies to the accounting for revenue and associated expenses by 

entities undertaking construction or real estate directly or via subcontractors.  Within a 
single agreement, the Company may contract to deliver goods or services in addition 
to the construction of real estate. Such an agreement shall therefore, be split into 
separately identifiable components. 

 
 An agreement for the construction of real estate shall be accounted for in accordance 

with FRS 111 if the buyer is able to specify the major structural elements of the design 
of the real estate before construction begins and/or specify major structural changes 
once construction is in progress. Accordingly, revenue shall be recognised by 
reference to the stage of completion of the contract. 

 
An agreement for the construction of real estate in which buyers only have limited 
ability to influence the design of the real estate or to specify only minor variations to 
the basic designs is an agreement for the sale of goods in accordance with FRS 118.  
Accordingly, revenue shall be recognised by reference to the criteria in paragraph 14 
of FRS 118 (e.g. transfer of significant risks and rewards, no continuing managerial 
involvement nor effective control, reliable measurement, etc.).  
 
The Group does not expect any impact on the financial statements arising from the 
adoption of this Interpretation. 
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5. ADOPTION OF NEW FRSs AND AMENDMENTS TO FRSs (continued) 

 
5.2 New FRSs that have been issued, but not yet effective and not yet adopted (continued) 

 
(h) Improvements to FRSs (2010) are mandatory for annual periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2011. 
 

Amendments to FRS 1 clarify that FRS 108 does not apply to changes in accounting 
policies made upon adoption of FRSs until after the first FRS financial statements 
have been presented.  If changes in accounting policies or exemptions in this FRS are 
used, an explanation of such changes together with updated reconciliations shall be 
made in each interim financial report. Entities whose operations are subject to rate 
regulation are permitted the use of previously revalued amounts as deemed cost. The 
Group does not expect any impact on the financial statements arising from the 
adoption of these amendments. 
 
Amendments to FRS 3 clarify that for each business combination, the acquirer shall 
measure at the acquisition date non-controlling interests that consists of the present 
ownership interests and entitle holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net 
assets in the event of liquidation. Un-replaced and voluntarily replaced share-based 
payment transactions shall be measured using the market-based measurement method 
in accordance with FRS 2 at the acquisition date. The Group does not expect any 
impact on the financial statements arising from the adoption of these amendments. 
 

Amendments to FRS 7 clarify that quantitative disclosures of risk concentrations are 
required if the disclosures made in other parts of the financial statements are not 
readily apparent. The disclosure on maximum exposure to credit risk is not required 
for financial instruments whose carrying amount best represents the maximum 
exposure to credit risk. The Group expects to improve the disclosures on maximum 
exposure to credit risk upon adoption of these amendments. 
 

Amendments to FRS 101 clarify that a statement of changes in equity shall be 
presented as part of a complete set of financial statements. The Group does not expect 
any impact on the financial statements arising from the adoption of these amendments. 
 

Amendments to FRS 121 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates clarify 
that the accounting treatment for cumulative foreign exchange differences in other 
comprehensive income for the disposal or partial disposal of a foreign operation shall 
be applied prospectively. The Group does not expect any impact on the financial 
statements arising from the adoption of these amendments. 
 
Amendments to FRS 128 clarify that the accounting treatment for the cessation of 
significant influence over an associate shall be applied prospectively. The Group does 
not expect any impact on the consolidated financial statements arising from the 
adoption of these amendments. 
 
Amendments to FRS 131 clarify that the accounting treatment for the cessation of joint 
control over an entity shall be applied prospectively. The Group does not expect any 
impact on the consolidated financial statements arising from the adoption of these 
amendments. 
 
Amendments to FRS 132 clarify that contingent consideration from a business 
combination that occurred before the effective date of the revised FRS 3 of 1 July 2010 
shall be accounted for prospectively. The Group does not expect any impact on the 
financial statements arising from the adoption of these amendments. 
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5. ADOPTION OF NEW FRSs AND AMENDMENTS TO FRSs (continued) 

 
5.2 New FRSs that have been issued, but not yet effective and not yet adopted (continued) 

 
(h) Improvements to FRSs (2010) are mandatory for annual periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2011 (continued). 
 

Amendments to FRS 134 clarify that updated information on significant events and 
transactions since the end of the last annual reporting period shall be included in the 
Group’s interim financial report. Although the Group does not expect any impact on 
the financial statements rising from the adoption of these amendments, it is expected 
that additional disclosures would be made in the quarterly interim financial statements 
of the Group. 
 
Amendments to FRS 139 clarify that contingent consideration from a business 
combination that occurred before the effective date of the revised FRS 3 of 1 July 2010 
shall be accounted for prospectively.  The Group does not expect any impact on the 
financial statements arising from the adoption of these amendments. 
 
Amendments to IC Interpretation 13 clarify that the fair value of award credits takes 
into account, amongst others, the amount of the discounts or incentives that would 
otherwise be offered to customers who have not earned award credits from an initial 
sale.  The Group does not expect any impact on the financial statements arising from 
the adoption of these amendments. 

 
(i) Amendments to IC Interpretation 14 FRS 119 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, 

Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction are mandatory for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011. 

 
These amendments clarify that if there is a minimum funding requirement for 
contributions relating to future service, the economic benefit available as a reduction in 
future contributions shall include any amount that reduces future minimum funding 
requirement contributions for future service because of the prepayment made. 
 
The Group does not expect any impact on the financial statements arising from the 
adoption of these amendments. 

 
(j) IC Interpretation 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments is 

mandatory for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011. 
 

This Interpretation applies to situations whereby equity instruments are issued to a 
creditor to extinguish all or part of a recognised financial liability. Such equity 
instruments shall be measured at fair value, and the difference between the carrying 
amount of the financial liability extinguished and the consideration paid shall be 
recognised in profit or loss. 
 
The Group does not expect any impact on the financial statements arising from the 
adoption of this Interpretation. 

 
(k) FRS 124 Related Party Disclosures and the consequential amendments to FRS 124 are 

mandatory for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012. 
 

This revised Standard simplifies the definition of a related party and eliminates certain 
inconsistencies within the superseded version. In addition to this, transactions and 
balances with government-related entities are broadly exempted from the disclosure 
requirements of the Standard. 
 
The Group expects to reduce related party disclosures in respect of transactions and 
balances with government-related entities upon adoption of this Standard. 
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6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 
 
6.1 Changes in estimates 

 
Estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 
 
The Directors are of the opinion that there are no changes in estimates at the end of the reporting 
period. 
 

6.2 Critical judgement made in applying accounting policies 
 

In determining and applying the accounting policies, judgement is often required in respect 
of items where choice of specific policy could materially affect the reported results and 
financial position of the Group and of the Company.  The following accounting policies 
require subjective judgement, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect 
of the matters that are inherently uncertain. 
 
(i) Operating lease 

 
The Company and a wholly-owned subsidiary (“the Group”) had entered into a 
conditional Sale and Purchase Agreement for the sale of two plots of leasehold land 
together with the buildings erected thereon with Amanah Raya Berhad (“ARB”).  
Subsequently, the properties were leased back by the Group from ARB for a lease 
period of ten years commencing June 2006 with the option to buy back the properties at 
the end of the primary lease term period. The Directors are of the opinion that the lease 
arrangement should be treated as operating lease as the Group does not retain 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of the said properties 
and the lease term does not constitute a major part of the economic life of the properties. 
Furthermore, the sale considerations are agreed based on the fair values. 

 
(ii) Contingent liabilities 
 

The determination of the treatment of contingent liabilities is based on management’s 
view of the expected outcome of the contingencies after consulting both internal and 
external legal advisors of the Group for matters in the ordinary course of business. The 
details of the material litigations are disclosed in the Note 30(b) to the financial 
statements. 

 
(iii) Non-current assets held for sale 

 
Non-current assets held for sale are in respect of properties which are pending disposal. 
Barring unforseen circumstances, the sale of such properties is intended to be completed 
within one year. However, the Group may continue to classify certain assets as non-
current assets held for sale even though the sale has not been completed within one year 
if the delay is caused by circumstances beyond the Group's control and the Group 
remains committed to its plan to sell the assets. 
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6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued) 

 
6.3 Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

 
The following are key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 
 
(i) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and investments in subsidiaries 

 
Property, plant and equipment and investments in subsidiaries are assessed for 
impairment losses whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount of these assets may not be recoverable. Such assessment requires the Directors to 
make estimates of the recoverable amounts. Impairment loss is recognised for the amount 
by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the 
higher of an asset’s fair value less cost to sell and its value in use. The Directors believe 
that the estimates of the recoverable amounts are reasonable. 
 

(ii) Income taxes 
 
Significant judgement is required in determining transactions and calculations for which 
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The 
Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether 
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome is different from the amounts 
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax 
provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 

 
 (iii) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 

 
The cost of property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight line basis over the 
assets’ useful lives. Management estimates the useful lives of these property, plant and 
equipment in accordance with accounting policy stated in Note 4.4 on property, plant and 
equipment and depreciation. These are common life expectancies applied in this industry. 
Changes in the expected level of usage and technological developments could impact the 
economic useful lives and the residual values of these assets, and therefore future 
depreciation charges could be revised. 
 

(iv) Fair values of borrowings 
 
The fair values of the borrowings are estimated by discounting future contractual cash 
flows at the current market interest rates available to the Group for similar financial 
instruments. It is assumed that the effective interest rates approximate the current market 
interest rates available to the Group based on its size and business risk. 
 

(v) Provisions  
 
Provision for the retirement benefits is estimated based on the predetermined rate of basic 
salaries and length of service of employees as well as other principal assumptions, such as 
discount rate and expected rate of annual salary increments, by reference to the latest 
actuarist’s report. 
 
Other provisions are recognised based on the management’s best estimation after taking 
into consideration of the historical data and past experience. 
 
Where expectations differ from the original estimates, the differences will impact the 
carrying amount of provisions. 
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6. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued) 

 
6.3 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 
 

(vi) Impairment of receivables 
 
The Group makes impairment of receivables based on an assessment of the recoverability 
of receivables. Impairment is applied to receivables where events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. The 
management specifically analyses historical bad debts, customer creditworthiness, current 
economic trends and changes in customer payment terms when making a judgement to 
evaluate the adequacy of impairment of receivables. Where expectations differ from the 
original estimates, the differences will impact the carrying value of receivables. 
 

(vii) Write down for obsolete or slow moving inventories 
 

The Group writes down its obsolete or slow moving inventories based on assessment of 
their estimated net selling price. Inventories are written down when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. The 
management specifically analyses sales trend and current economic trends when making a 
judgement to evaluate the adequacy of the write down for obsolete or slow moving 
inventories. Where expectations differ from the original estimates, the differences will 
impact the carrying amount of inventories. 
 

(viii) Deferred tax assets 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses, unabsorbed capital 
allowances and other deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profits will be available against which the losses and capital allowances can be 
utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of 
deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future 
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. 
 

(ix) Valuation of investment properties 
 
The fair value of investment property is arrived at by reference to market evidence of 
transaction prices for similar property and is performed by registered independent valuers 
having an appropriate recognised professional qualification and recent experience in the 
location and category of the property being valued. 
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7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

    Depreciation    
Group Balance at Additions  charge for     
2011 1 July 2010, (Note (d)  the financial  Written  Balance at 
 as restated below) Disposals year  off Reclassification 30 June 2011 
Carrying amount RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 
Buildings 6,157 8 - (163) - - 6,002 
Freehold land and buildings 1,250 - - (44) - - 1,206 
Leasehold land and buildings 3,020 30,512 - (413) - - 33,119 
Bottles and cases - - - - - - 
Construction-in-progress 35,220 6,872 - (6,627) - (33,620) 1,845 
Plant and machinery 76,161 28,224 - (9,715) (1,826) 33,620 126,464 
Office furniture and equipment 3,962 1,551 (1) (1,546) (10) - 3,956 
Renovations 571 189 - (128) (17) - 615 
Motor vehicles 1,922 1,614 (96) (584) - - 2,856 
        
  128,263 68,970 (97) (19,220) (1,853) - 176,063 
 
 |-------------------------- At 30 June 2011 -------------------------| 
  Accumulated Accumulated Carrying 
 Cost depreciation impairment loss amount 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

     
Buildings 8,201 (2,199) - 6,002 
Freehold land and buildings 2,200 (403) (591) 1,206 
Leasehold land 33,559 (440) - 33,119 
Bottles and cases 370 (370) - - 
Construction-in-progress 1,845 - - 1,845 
Plant and machinery 237,164 (110,700) - 126,464 
Office furniture and equipment 15,885 (11,929) - 3,956 
Renovations 894 (279) - 615 
Motor vehicles 5,149 (2,293) - 2,856 
     
  305,267 (128,613) (591) 176,063 
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7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 
 

    Depreciation    
Group Balance at Additions  charge for    Balance at 
2010 1 July 2009, (Note (d)  the financial Written Impairment 30 June 2010, 
 as restated below) Disposals year  off loss as restated 
Carrying amount RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 
Buildings 6,320 - - (163) - - 6,157 
Freehold land and buildings 1,855 - - (14) - (591) 1,250 
Leasehold land and buildings 3,080 - - (60) - - 3,020 
Bottles and cases - - - - - - - 
Construction-in-progress - 35,220 - - - - 35,220 
Plant and machinery 74,403 14,770 - (11,702) (1,310) - 76,161 
Office furniture and equipment 2,692 2,624 (2) (1,351) (1) - 3,962 
Renovations 274 375 - (78) - - 571 
Motor vehicles 181 2,093 (14) (338) - - 1,922 

        

  88,805 55,082 (16) (13,706) (1,311) (591) 128,263 
 
 |---------------------------- At 30 June 2010 -------------------------| 
   Accumulated  
  Accumulated impairment Carrying 
 Cost depreciation loss amount 
 (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
Buildings 8,193 (2,036) - 6,157 
Freehold land and buildings 2,200 (359) (591) 1,250 
Leasehold land 3,080 - (60) 3,020 
Bottles and cases 370 (370) - - 
Construction-in-progress 35,220 - - 35,220 
Plant and machinery 173,598 (97,437) - 76,161 
Office furniture and equipment 14,374 (10,412) - 3,962 
Renovations 735 (164) - 571 
Motor vehicles 3,690 (1,768) - 1,922 

     

  241,460 (112,546) (651) 128,263 
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7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 
 

   Depreciation  
  Additions charge for  
Company Balance at (Note (d) the financial Balance at 
2011 1 July 2010 below) year 30 June 2011
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
Carrying amount 

Office furniture and equipment 22 17 (9) 30 
 

 |-------------- At 30 June 2011 --------------| 
  Accumulated Carrying 
 Cost depreciation amount 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Office furniture and equipment 104 (74) 30 
 

   Depreciation  
  Additions charge for  
Company Balance at (Note (d) the financial Balance at 
2010 1 July 2009 below) year 30 June 2010
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
Carrying amount 

Office furniture and equipment 30 1 (9) 22 
 

 |-------------- At 30 June 2010 --------------| 
  Accumulated Carrying 
 Cost depreciation amount 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Office furniture and equipment 91 (69) 22 
 

(a)    The carrying amounts of leasehold land are analysed as follows: 
 

 Group  
 2011  2010

 RM’000  RM’000
    

Long term leasehold land (unexpired period more than 32,470 2,337
50 years)  

Short term leasehold land (unexpired period less than  
50 years) 649 683

    

 33,119 3,020
 

(b) The net book values of property, plant and equipment held under hire purchase and 
finance lease arrangements are as follows: 

 
 Group  
 2011  2010
 RM’000  RM’000

 Motor vehicles 2,679 1,892
 Plant and machinery 13,834 13,003
 Office furniture and equipment 230 408

  16,743 15,303
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7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 

 
(c) The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment pledged to financial institutions for 

banking facilities granted to certain subsidiaries (Notes 21, 22 and 23 to the financial 
statements) are as follows: 

 
 Group 
 2011  2010
 RM’000  RM’000

 Buildings 4,521 4,622
 Long term leasehold land 32,165 2,028
 Plant and machinery 62,180 22,868
 Construction-in-progress 1,845 35,220

  100,711 64,738
 

(d) During the financial year, the Group and the Company made the following cash payments 
to purchase property, plant and equipment: 

 

  Group Company 
  2011 2010 2011  2010
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000

 Purchase of property,   
 plant and equipment 68,970 55,082 17 1

 Unpaid credit   
 purchases included    
 in other payables  
 (Note 26) (2,680) (1,298) - -     

 Settlement of credit  
 purchases brought   
 forward 1,298 1,382 - -     

 Financed by:  
 - hire purchase and   
     lease arrangement (6,363) (2,091) - -     
 - Islamic term     
 financing (2,742) (2,214) - -     
 - term loans (45,223) - - -     

 Cash payments on   
 purchase of property,  
 plant and equipment 13,260 50,861 17 1

 
(e) In the previous financial year, an impairment loss on freehold land and building of 

approximately RM591,000 was recognised to reduce the carrying amounts of the assets to 
their recoverable amounts. The recoverable amount of the asset was determined by 
reference to market values which were obtained from registered independent valuers based 
on recent transactions for similar assets. 

 
(f) During the financial year, the Group reassessed its leases of land in accordance with the 

Amendment to FRS 117 to be finance leases, where applicable. The classification of 
prepaid lease payments for land as property, plant and equipment has been accounted for 
retrospectively. The effects of the reclassifications are shown in Note 44 to the financial 
statements. 
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8. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 

 

  Group 
  2011  2010
  RM’000  RM’000
    

 Balance at 1 July 2010/2009 1,280 1,885
 Disposal - (605)

 Balance at 30 June 1,280 1,280
  
 Analysed as: 

 Freehold land 180 180
 Long term leasehold land 1,100 1,100

  1,280 1,280
 

(a) Freehold land with a net book value of RM1 (2010: RM1) was registered in the name of a 
Director of a subsidiary who holds the property in trust for the subsidiary. 

 
(b) Direct operating expenses  
 

 Group 
 2011  2010
 RM’000  RM’000

     
 Quit rent and assessment 167 18
 

(c) The fair values of the investment properties were derived from the Directors’ assessment 
based on indicative values obtained from valuation conducted by independent professional 
valuers. 

 
 
9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 

 Impairment 
 loss recognised 
Group Balance at during the Balance at
2011 1 July 2010 financial year 30 June 2011
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
Carrying amount 

Goodwill on consolidation 47,548 - 47,548
 

 |-------------------- At 30 June 2011 -------------------|
 Accumulated Carrying
 Cost impairment loss amount
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
 
Goodwill on consolidation 68,698 (21,150) 47,548
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9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 
 

 Impairment 
 loss recognised 
Group Balance at during the Balance at
2010 1 July 2009 financial year 30 June 2010
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
Carrying amount 

Goodwill on consolidation 47,548 - 47,548
 

 |-------------------- At 30 June 2010 -------------------|
 Accumulated Carrying
 Cost impairment loss amount
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
 
Goodwill on consolidation 68,698 (21,150) 47,548
 
The goodwill on consolidation of RM47,548,075 is related to the beverage division of the 
Group. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the subsidiary which 
represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal 
management purpose. 
 
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Company had entered into a conditional share 
sale agreement for the disposal of its beverage division for a total cash consideration of RM820 
million. Based on the Directors’ assessment by taking this into account, there is no indication of 
additional impairment on the goodwill on consolidation.  

 
 

10. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 
 
 Company 
 2011  2010
 RM’000  RM’000

 Unquoted investments, at cost 177,030 177,030
 Less: Accumulated impairment losses (86,416) (86,416)

  90,614 90,614
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10. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 

 

Details of the subsidiaries, which are incorporated in Malaysia, are as follows: 
 

 Effective equity
 interest
Name of subsidiaries 2011 2010 Principal activities 
 % %

Permanis Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Selling, bottling and distribution of 
beverages  

Doe Industries Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Manufacture and trading of water  
taps and other plumbing accessories

C.I. Building Industries Sdn. Bhd. 100 100  Investment holding 

C.I. Engineering Sdn. Bhd. 100 100  Investment holding 

C.I. Management Sdn. Bhd. 100 100  Inactive

C.I. Construction Sdn. Bhd. 100 100  Inactive

C.I. Marketing Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Inactive

C.I. Development Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Dormant

Subsidiaries of Permanis  
 Sdn. Bhd. 

Permanis Sandilands Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Marketing and distribution of 
beverages 

Champs Water Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Selling, bottling and distribution of
 beverages  

Permanis Mainworks Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Inactive

Subsidiaries of Permanis 
 Sandilands Sdn. Bhd. 

Permanis Distributions Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Marketing and distribution of foods
and beverages products  

Permanis (Sabah) Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Marketing and distribution of foods 
and beverages products  

Permanis (Singapore) Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Marketing and distribution of foods 
and beverages products. However, the 
subsidiary has not commenced any 
business activities as at the end of the  
reporting period 

 
 
 
 

Permanis Trading Sdn. Bhd. 
(now known as Permanis Sarawak 
Sdn. Bhd.) 

100 100 Marketing and distribution of foods 
and beverages products 

Permanis Maintenance Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Engaged in maintenance services of 
vending machines, coolers, postmix 
and other beverage equipment 

Permanis Vending Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Engaged in assembling, sales, 
servicing and carry on the business of 
operating vending machines, coolers, 
postmix and other beverage 
equipment 
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10. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 
 

 Effective equity
 interest
Name of subsidiaries 2011 2010 Principal activities 
 % %
 
Subsidiaries of Doe Industries
 Sdn. Bhd. 

Doe Marketing Sdn. Bhd. 100 100 Dealership and distribution of 
household fittings and appliances  

Potex Industries Sdn. Bhd. 90 90 Manufacturing of ceramic sanitary 
wares

Potex Sdn. Bhd. 90 90 Inactive

Subsidiary of C.I. Engineering
 Sdn. Bhd. 

C.I. Auto Services Sdn. Bhd. 51 51 Inactive

Subsidiary of C.I. Building 
 Industries Sdn. Bhd. 

C.I. Quarries Sdn. Bhd. 100 100  Investment holding 

Subsidiaries of C.I. Quarries
 Sdn. Bhd. 

Capital Aim Sdn. Bhd. 100 100  Investment holding 

C.I. Damansara Quarry Sdn. Bhd. 65 65  Inactive

Subsidiary of Capital Aim 
 Sdn. Bhd. 

C.I. Quarries (Nilai) Sdn. Bhd. 100 100  Inactive
 

(a) In the previous financial year, the Company disposed off its entire equity interest in 
Permanis Maintenance Sdn. Bhd. (formerly known as Pep Bottlers Sdn. Bhd.) and 
Permanis Vending Sdn. Bhd. (formerly known as C.I. Properties Sdn. Bhd.) to Permanis 
Sandilands Sdn. Bhd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Permanis Sdn. Bhd., which in turn is 
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, for a total cash consideration of RM300,002. 
 
The above transactions had no significant impact on the earnings and net assets of the 
Group and of the Company for the financial year ended 30 June 2010.  

  
(b) The impairment loss on certain investments in subsidiaries was recognised in the previous 

financial years to reduce the carrying amount of the investments in subsidiaries to their 
recoverable amounts. The recoverable amounts of the investments in subsidiaries were 
determined by reference to their value in use. 

 



Company No: 64
37918 - A  

 
 
 

11. OTHER INVESTMENT 
 

 Group and Company 
 2011  2010 
 RM’000  RM’000 
    

Available-for-sale financial assets   
- Club membership 15  - 
Less: Impairment loss (5)  - 
   
 10  - 
    

Other investment - at cost    
- Club membership -  15 
    
 

(a) Other investments have been classified into available-for-sale financial assets upon adoption 
of FRS 139 on 1 July 2010. 

 

(b) The comparative figures have not been presented based on the new categorisation of financial 
assets resulting from the adoption of FRS 139 by virtue of the exemption given in FRS 
7.44AA. 

 

(c) Information on the fair value hierarchy is disclosed in Note 41 to the financial statements. 
 

 
12. DEFERRED TAX  
 

(a) The deferred tax assets and liabilities are made up of the following: 
 

 Group   Company 
 2011  2010  2011 

 

2010 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

 

RM’000 
   

 

Balance as at 30 June 2010/2009 5,671 4,085 - 
 

- 
Tax effects of adoption of FRS 139  125 - - 

 

- 
    

 

 
Restated balance as at 1 July 2010/2009 5,796 4,085 - 

 

- 
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 35) 7,797 1,586 180 

 

- 
    

 

 
Balance as at 30 June 2011/2010 13,593 5,671 180 

 

- 
    

 

 
Presented after appropriate offsetting:    

 

 
    

 

 
Deferred tax assets, net (1,552) (1,642) - 

 

- 
    

 

 
Deferred tax liabilities, net 15,145 7,313 180 

 

- 
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12. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 

 
(b) The components and movements of deferred tax assets and liabilities during the financial year 

prior to offsetting are as follows: 
 

    Unused tax Fair value   
  Provision Retirement losses and adjustments   
  for benefit capital on derivative   

Group Inventories liabilities obligations allowances instruments Others Total 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Deferred tax assets 

At 1 July 2009 565 1,663 169 601 - 311 3,309 
        
Recognised in         
profit or loss 509 (165) 1 (42) - 38 341 

At 30 June/1 July        
  2010 1,074 1,498 170 559 - 349 3,650 
        
Recognised in        
profit or loss (176) (76) 350 (559) 368 (348) (441)

At 30 June 2011 898 1,422 520 - 368 1 3,209 
 
 

  Fair value Property, Unrealised  
  adjustments plant and gain on foreign  
 Group on assets equipment exchange Total 
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 Deferred tax liabilities     

 At 1 July 2009 161 7,233 - 7,394 
 Recognised in profit or loss - 1,890 37 1,927 

 At 30 June/1 July 2010 161 9,123 37 9,321 
 Recognised in profit or loss (161) 7,231 411 7,481 

 At 30 June 2011 - 16,354 448 16,802 
 

    
    
 Company Others Total 
  RM’000 RM’000 
 Deferred tax liabilities   

 At 1 July 2009 - - 
 Recognised in profit or loss - - 

 At 30 June/1 July 2010 - - 
 Recognised in profit or loss 180 180 

 At 30 June 2011 180 180 
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12. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 

 

(c) The amounts of temporary differences for which no deferred tax assets have been 
recognised in the statement of financial position are as follows: 

 
 Group  
 2011  2010
 RM’000  RM’000

 Unused tax losses 6,107 6,304
 Unabsorbed capital allowances 3,396 3,208
 Provision for liabilities 36 48
 Other deductible temporary differences 13 25

  9,552 9,585
 

Deferred tax assets of certain subsidiaries have not been recognised in respect of these 
items as it is not probable that taxable profit of the subsidiaries will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 
 
The unused tax losses and unabsorbed capital allowances of certain subsidiaries do not 
expire under the current tax legislation. 

 
 
13. INVENTORIES 
 

 Group 
 2011  2010
 RM’000  RM’000

 At cost    
 Raw materials 46,464 24,538
 Work-in-progress 1,252 6,745
 Finished goods 28,733 20,629

  76,449 51,912
 At net realisable value  
 Finished goods 38 -
   
  76,487 51,912
 
 
14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 

  Group Company 
  2011 2010 2011  2010
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000

         

 Trade receivables 114,309 106,826 56 42 
 Less: impairment loss (1,788) (1,649) - -
         

  112,521 105,177 56 42 
   
 Other receivables 2,050 1,231 - -
 Less: impairment loss (390) (385) - -
         

  1,660 846 - -
 Deposits 6,795 4,266 9 9
 Prepayments 1,522 3,283 7 5
         

  9,977 8,395 16 14
         

  122,498 113,572 72 56
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14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 
 

(a) The credit terms offered by the Group in respect of trade receivables range from 14 to 90 
days (2010: 14 to 90 days) from the date of invoice. They are recognised at their original 
invoice amounts, which represents their fair values on initial recognition. 

 
(b)     The ageing analysis of trade receivables of the Group is as follows: 

 
 Group Company 
 2011 2010 2011  2010
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000

   
Neither past due nor   
impaired 73,548 71,523 56 42

  
Past due, not impaired  
  
1 to 30 days 26,579 23,264 - -
31 to 60 days 8,705 7,023 - -
61 to 90 days 2,253 2,820 - -
More than 90 days 1,436 547 -       -
 38,973 33,654 -     -   
  
Past due and impaired 1,788 1,649 -     -   

  
 114,309 106,826 56 42

                  
Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired 
 
Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good 
payment records with the Group. 
 
None of the trade receivables of the Group that are neither past due nor impaired have been 
renegotiated during the financial year. 
 
Receivables that are past due but not impaired 
 
Trade receivables that are past due but not impaired mainly arose from customers where the 
Group has a healthy business relationship with, whereby the management is of the view that 
the amounts are recoverable based on past payments history. 
 
The trade receivables of the Group that are past due but not impaired are unsecured in nature. 
 
Receivables that are past due and impaired 
 
Trade receivables of the Group that are past due and impaired at the end of the reporting 
period are as follows: 

 
  Individually impaired 
  2011  2010

Group  RM’000  RM’000
    
Trade receivables, gross 1,788  1,649  
Less: Impairment loss (1,788)  (1,649) 

    
 -  - 
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14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 
 

(b)     The ageing analysis of trade receivables of the Group is as follows (continued): 
 

The reconciliation of movements in the impairment loss on trade receivables is as follows: 
 

 Group 
 2011  2010
 RM’000  RM’000
    
At 1 July 2010/2009   (1,649)    (1,907) 
Charge for the financial year  (712)  (122) 
Provision no longer required      -        72 
Written off       573        308 
    
At 30 June 2011/2010 (1,788)  (1,649) 

 
Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the end of the previous 
reporting period relate to those debtors that exhibit significant financial difficulties and have 
defaulted on payments. These receivables are not secured by any collateral or credit 
enhancements. 

 
 
15. AMOUNTS OWING BY/TO SUBSIDIARIES 
 

  Company 
  2011  2010
  RM’000  RM’000

         

 Amounts owing by subsidiaries 15,730 13,891
 Less: Impairment loss (3,585) (3,578)
         

  12,145 10,313
         

 Amounts owing to subsidiaries 14,245 14,249
 

Amounts owing by/to subsidiaries represent advances and payments made on behalf, which are 
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand in cash and cash equivalents except for an amount 
of RM800,000 (2010: RM800,000), which bears interest at 8% (2010: 8%) per annum. 

 

In the previous financial year, the impairment loss was net of bad debts written off during the 
financial year of RM100,377,264. 
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16. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  

 

 

(a) In the previous financial year, included in the deposits placed with licensed banks of the 
Group were deposits of RM62,000, which were pledged for banking facilities granted to 
certain subsidiaries. 

 

(b) The fixed deposits placed with the licensed banks of the Group at 30 June 2011 have 
maturity period ranging from 40 days to 90 days (2010: 30 days to 365 days). 

 

(c) In accordance with the lease agreement entered by the Group with Amanah Raya Berhad 
(“ARB”) (Note 6.2(i) and 29 to the financial statements), the Group is required to pay 
ARB on the commencement of the lease agreement the sum of RM1,587,000, which is 
equivalent to one year’s lease rental as a deposit and placed into an Institutional Trust 
Account (“ITA”) as security for the lease agreement and shall be kept and maintained in 
the ITA throughout the lease term. The Group shall top up and/or increase the amount of 
deposit starting from year six to year ten of the lease term to the amount equivalent to one 
year’s lease rental for the year six to the year ten of the lease term. The deposit earns 
investment income at 4.2% (2010: 4.2%) per annum.  

 Group Company 
 2011 2010 2011  2010
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000

         

 Cash and bank balances 56,204 24,936 163 420
 Deposits placed with  
 financial institutions 14,616 15,498 12,000 11,100
         

 Cash and cash equivalents 70,820 40,434 12,163 11,520
 as reported in the   
 statements of financial   
 position  
 Less: Deposits pledged  
             to licensed banks  
             (Note (a) below ) - (62) - -     
  Deposits placed with  
 an  institutional   
 trustee  
            (Note (c) below ) (1,966) (1,887) - -     
         

 Cash and cash equivalents  
 as reported in the   
 statements of cash flows  68,854 38,485 12,163 11,520
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17. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 

  Contracts/ 
Notional amounts 

  
Assets 

  
Liabilities 

 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000
Group       

      

2011      
      

Forward currency contracts 1,660 8 -
Cross currency swap contracts 113,955 -  1,340 

  
(a) Forward currency contracts 

 
Forward currency contracts have been entered into to operationally hedge forecast sales 
denominated in foreign currencies that are expected to occur at various dates within two 
months from the end of the reporting period. The forward currency contracts have maturity 
dates that coincide with the expected occurrence of these transactions. The fair value of a 
foreign currency contract is the amount that would be payable or receivable upon 
termination of the outstanding position arising and is determined by reference to the 
difference between the contracted rate and the forward exchange rate as at the end of the 
reporting period applied to a contract of similar amount and maturity profile. 

 
(b) Currency swap contracts 

 
Currency swap contracts are used to hedge foreign currency exposures of borrowings. The 
fair value of a currency swap contract is the amount that would be payable or receivable 
upon termination of the position at the end of the reporting period, and is calculated as the 
difference between the present value of the estimated future cash flows at the contracted 
rate compared to that calculated at the spot rate as at the end of the reporting period. 

 
(c) During the financial year, the Group recognised total losses of RM1,833,822 (2010: Nil) 

arising from fair value changes of derivative financial assets and liabilities. The fair value 
changes are attributable to changes in foreign exchange spot and forward foreign exchange 
and interest rates. The methods and assumptions applied in determining the fair values of 
derivatives are disclosed in Note 41.  

 
 
18. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 
 
  Group 
  2011  2010
  RM’000  RM’000

 Balance at 1 July 2010/2009 4,500 4,500
 Disposal (4,500) -
  
 Balance at 30 June 2011/2010 - 4,500

 
In the previous financial year, non-current assets held for sale as at 30 June 2010 was in respect 
of the sale of an investment property where the transfer of legal title had yet to be completed. 
The sale was completed in July 2010 when the transfer of legal title was effected.  
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19. SHARE CAPITAL 
 
  Group and Company
  2011 and 2010
  Number   
  of shares  RM’000

 Ordinary shares of RM1.00  
  each:  
     

 Authorised 500,000,000 500,000
     

 Issued and fully paid:  
     

 Balance as at 1 July   
  2010/2009 142,000,000 142,000
     

 Balance as at 30 June 142,000,000 142,000
 

The owners of the parent are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company 
and are entitled to one vote per ordinary share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares 
rank pari passu with regard to the Company’s residual assets. 

 
 
20. RESERVES 
 

 Group Company
 2011 2010 2011  2010
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000

Non-distributable:   

Share premium 2,147 2,147 2,147 2,147
        

Distributable:  

Retained earnings/  
(Accumulated losses) 45,238 17,160 (44,675) (46,750)

 47,385 19,307 (42,528) (44,603)
 

Effective from 1 January 2008, the Company is given the option to make an irrecoverable election 
to move to a single tier system or continue to use its tax credit under Section 108 of the Income 
Tax Act, 1967 for the purpose of dividend distribution until the tax credit is fully utilised or latest, 
by 31 December 2013. 
 
The Company has decided not to make this election and has sufficient tax credit under Section 108 
of Income Tax Act, 1967 and balance in the tax exempt account to frank the payment of dividends 
out of its entire retained earnings without incurring additional tax liabilities. 
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21. BORROWINGS 
 
 Group 
 2011  2010
 RM’000  RM’000

 Non-current liabilities  
      

 Secured:  
 Term loans 107,801 16,188
 Islamic term financing  4,775 28,997
 Hire purchase and lease creditors 7,067 5,499
      

  119,643 50,684

 Current liabilities  

 Secured:   

 Bankers’ acceptances 362 -
 Term loans  4,753 4,500
 Islamic term financing 3,048 2,789
 Hire purchase and lease creditors 4,064 3,332

  12,227 10,621
 Unsecured:  
 Bankers’ acceptances 38,582 23,028
 Revolving credits  5,009 10,321
    
  55,818 43,970
   
 Total borrowings  

 Bankers’ acceptances 38,944 23,028
 Revolving credits 5,009 10,321
 Term loans (Note 22) 112,554 20,688
 Islamic term financing (Note 23) 7,823 31,786
 Hire purchase and lease creditors (Note 24) 11,131 8,831
    
  175,461 94,654

  
 Maturity of borrowings  
    

 Within one year 55,818 43,970
 More than one year and less than five years 57,679 46,593
 Five years or more 61,964 4,091

  175,461 94,654
 
  Group 
  2011  2010
  Days  Days
 Ranges of maturity period of short term bank borrowings   
   (excluding bank overdrafts)    

 Bankers’ acceptances 70 - 105  69 - 95
 Revolving credits 120  180
 Islamic acceptance bills 56 - 120  58 - 120
 

All bank borrowings are generally operated by way of a corporate guarantee and indemnity by 
the Company and a negative pledge on the assets of the Company and certain subsidiaries. 
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22. TERM LOANS  
 

 Group  
 2011  2010
 RM’000  RM’000

 Secured:   
 Term loan I -  20,688
 Term loan II 52,891  -
 Term loan III 59,663  -
    
 Term loans 112,554  20,688
     

 Repayable as follows:   
     

 Current liabilities  
 - not later than one year 4,753 4,500
     

 Non-current liabilities  
 - later than one year and not later than five years 107,801 16,188
     

  112,554 20,688
 

(a) Term loan I was drawn down progressively to finance the costs incurred for plant and 
machinery and was repayable by 20 quarterly instalments in stages with the quarterly 
instalments ranging from RM500,000 to RM3,500,000 per quarter commencing on the 
25th month from the date of first drawdown, in November 2006. During the financial 
year, Term loan I is refinanced by Term loan II. 

 
Term loan II was drawn down to refinance Term loan 1 and Murabahah Islamic term 
financing (Note 23 to the financial statements) and is repayable quarterly by 26 
instalments commencing 30 September 2011. This facility is secured by a charge over the 
related plant and machinery (Note 7 to the financial statements) financed under term loan 
I and Murabahah Islamic term financing previously. 
 
Term loan III was drawn down in June 2011 to finance the acquisition of new leasehold 
land and the purchase of plant and machinery. This facility is secured by a charge over 
the leasehold land as well as plant and machinery (Note 7 to the financial statements) 
financed under the term loan. The facility is guaranteed by the Company. 

 
(b) In connection with the term loan agreements, the Group has agreed to certain significant 

covenants, subject to the consent of the lenders, which include the following: 
 

(i) The borrower shall remain as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company throughout 
the tenure of the loan; 

 
(ii) The borrower shall not incur any borrowings; 
 
(iii) The borrower shall not dispose any of its core business, assets, undertaking, 

acquiring new business or assets not related to food and beverage industry; 
 
(iv) The borrower shall not pay dividends exceeding 30% of the profit before tax; and 
 
(v) In the event of termination of bottling license with Pepsico International, the Bank 

has the right to recall the entire facilities. 
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23. ISLAMIC TERM FINANCING 
 

 Group  
 2011  2010
 RM’000  RM’000
 Secured   
    
 Bai-Bithaman Ajil  (“BBA”) 4,263 2,214
 Murabahah  -  25,257
 Ijarah 2,519 3,502
 Islamic acceptance bills 1,041 813
   
  7,823 31,786
  
 Repayable as follows:   
    
 Current liabilities  
 - not later than one year 3,048 2,789
   
 Non-current liabilities  
 - later than one year and not later than five years 4,775 24,906
 - later than five years - 4,091
   
  4,775 28,997
   
  7,823 31,786

 
(a) Murabahah, Ijarah and Islamic acceptance bills are guaranteed by the Company.  
 
(b) BBA are repayable by way of 54 equal monthly instalments of RM107,042 each 

commencing October 2010. It is guaranteed by the Company and a subsidiary.  
 

(c) Murabahah acceptance bills was refinanced by Term loan II during the financial year 
(Note 22 to the financial statements). 

 
(d) Ijarah are repayable by 60 equal monthly instalments of RM101,382 each commencing 

first drawdown date, September 2008. 
 
(e) Both Ijarah and Islamic acceptance bills are secured by third party legal charge over 

leasehold land and building of a subsidiary (Note 7 to the financial statements). 
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24. HIRE PURCHASE AND LEASE CREDITORS 
 
 Group 
 2011  2010
 RM’000  RM’000

 Minimum hire purchase and lease payments:  
 - not later than one year 4,636 3,792
 - later than one year and not later than five years 7,688 5,881
     

  12,324 9,673
 Less: Future interest charges (1,193) (842)
   
 Present value of hire purchase and lease creditors 11,131 8,831

 Repayable as follows:  
     

 Current liabilities  
 - not later than one year 4,064 3,332
     

 Non-current liabilities  
 - later than one year and not later than five years 7,067 5,499
     

  11,131 8,831
 

Included in the hire purchase and lease creditors of the Group is an amount of RM483,823 
(2010: RM848,327), which is guaranteed by the Company. 

 
 
25. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 
 

The Group operates unfunded defined benefit plans for non-executive staff who are entitled to 
a payment calculated by reference to their length of service and earnings. Provision for 
retirement benefit obligations is calculated based on the predetermined rate of basic salaries 
and length of service of the employees. 
 
The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are determined as follows: 

 
 |----------------------------- Group -------------------------------|
 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

 Present value of unfunded   
 defined benefit obligations 3,065 3,196 3,146 2,917 2,529
 Unrecognised actuarial gain 339 243 186 188 203
       

  3,404 3,439 3,332 3,105 2,732
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25. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued) 

 
The total expenses recognised in profit or loss are as follows: 

 
 Group  
 2011  2010
 RM’000  RM’000
   
 Current service cost 151 183
 Past service cost (40) 32
 Interest cost 129 133
 Amortisation of unrecognised gain (1) -
 Actuarial loss (7) 57
   
 Expenses recognised in the statements of comprehensive  
  income included under administrative expenses 232 405

 
The movements during the financial year in the amounts recognised in the statement of 
financial position in respect of the defined benefit plans are as follows: 

 
 Group  
 2011  2010
 RM’000  RM’000
     

 Balance at 1 July 2010/2009 3,439 3,332
 Recognised in the statements of comprehensive income 232 405
 Contributions paid (267) (298)
     

 Balance as at 30 June 2011/2010 3,404 3,439
 
 The principal actuarial assumptions used are as follows: 
 

 Group 
 2011  2010
 %  %
   
 Discount rates 5.5 and 6.3  5.0 and 5.6
 Expected rates of salary increases 6.0 and 4.5  5.0 and 6.0

 
 

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 

  Group Company 
  2011 2010 2011  2010
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000

   
 Trade payables 38,491 34,039 - -
   
 Other payables 27,049 40,061 188 178
 Amounts owing to suppliers  
  of property, plant and  
  equipment (Note 7(d)) 2,680 1,298 - -
 Deposit received 1,947 1,117 - -
 Accruals 36,741 37,502 1,057 907
   
  68,417 79,978 1,245 1,085
   
  106,908 114,017 1,245 1,085
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26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 
 
(a) The credit terms available to the Group in respect of trade payables range from 30 to 120 days 

(2010: 30 to 120 days) from the date of invoice. 
 

(b) Other payables mainly comprise advances from third parties and amounts owing to service 
providers, for example transportation, marketing and warehouse. In the previous financial 
year, included in other payables was an amount of RM842,425 owing to third parties for the 
acquisition of 90% equity interest in Potex Industries Sdn. Bhd. and Potex Sdn. Bhd. 

 
(c) Included in trade and other payables of the Group is an amount owing of RM760,652     

(2010: RM681,398) to a corporation in which a Director of the Company has deemed interest 
as at the end of reporting period, which is unsecured, interest-free and repayable based on 
normal credit term. 

 
(d) Accruals are mainly made for transportation, sales and marketing expenses and staff costs.  

 
 
27. PROVISIONS 

 
 Employees  
Group Marketing Pallet compen- Market Litigation
 expenses losses sation Returns claim 
2011 (Note (a)) (Note (b)) (Note (c)) (Note (d)) (Note (e)) Total
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
       

Balance as at 1 July 2010 25 518 170 1,755 1,600 4,068
Provision made   
  during the financial    
  year - - 3 415 - 418
Provision no longer   
  required  - (328) - (36) - (364)
   
Balance as at 30 June    
  2011 25 190 173 2,134 1,600 4,122
       

2010  
       

Balance as at 1 July 2009 25 - 170 2,155 - 2,350
Provision made   
  during the financial    
  year - 518 - 68 1,600 2,186
Provision no longer    
  required  - - - (468) - (468)
   
Balance as at 30 June    
  2010 25 518 170 1,755 1,600 4,068

 
(a) Marketing expenses are payable for various promotion activities or events conducted by the 

Group and the provision is recognised at the financial year end based on the management’s 
best estimation. 

 
(b) Provision for pallet loss is recognised based on the estimated obligation to compensate the 

supplier on the damaged or loss of rented pallets which were used in the daily operations 
throughout the country. The provision is made based on the current usage and the historical 
data on pallet losses. 

 
(c) The provision for compensation to former employees is in connection with industrial relation 

cases between the Company and its subsidiaries and a group of former employees who were 
dismissed in 2003. 



Company No: 78
37918 - A  

 
 

 
27. PROVISIONS (continued) 

 
(d) Provision for market returns is recognised based on the estimated liabilities arising from 

the returns of damaged, infected or expired products by the customers. The estimated 
liability is made after taking into consideration of the historical market returns data and the 
products life cycle. 

 
(e) Provision for litigation claim is in respect of the claim made by a distributor against a 

wholly-owned subsidiary for the wrongful termination of the Distribution Partner 
Agreement. 

 
 
28. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 
 

 Group 
 2011  2010
 RM’000  RM’000

 Capital expenditure in respect of purchase of property,  
  plant and equipment:  

 - contracted but not provided for 44,283 21,074
 
 
29. NON-CANCELLABLE OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 
 
  Group Company
  2011 2010 2011  2010
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000

 Future minimum lease payments
 - not later than one year 3,851 3,007 37 147
 - later than one year and not later than  
    five years 11,256 9,710 - 37
   
  15,107 12,717 37 184

 
Included in the non-cancellable operating lease commitments of the Group is an operating lease 
arising from the leaseback of the Group’s disposed properties for a lease period of ten years at a 
rental rate of RM132,250 per month for the first five years and RM136,084 per month for the 
remaining lease period of five years. 
 

 
30. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES - UNSECURED 
 

(a) Guarantees given by the Company to financial institutions in respect of: 
 

 Company 
 2011  2010
 RM’000  RM’000

   
 Banking facilities granted to subsidiaries 161,610 82,808
 Hire purchase and lease facilities granted  
   to subsidiaries  484 848
   
  162,094 83,656

 
The Directors are of the view that the chances of the financial institutions to call upon the 
corporate guarantees are not probable. 
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30. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES – UNSECURED (continued) 
 
(b) Material litigation 

 
KKS Trading Sdn. Bhd. (“KKS”) had filed a suit against a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
the Company at the Kuala Lumpur High Court, claiming a sum of RM3.10 million as 
damages suffered by reason of the subsidiary alleged wrongful termination of a 
Distribution Partner Agreement.  
 
During the financial year, the case was settled when KKS agreed to accept RM90,000 as 
full and final settlement and without liberty to file afresh. 

 
 
31. REVENUE 
 
 Group Company 
 2011 2010 2011  2010
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000

   
 Sale of goods 580,425 516,006 - -     
 Management and other  
 fees from subsidiaries -      -      6,000 6,000
 Dividend income -      -      12,950 19,139
 Interest income 312 395 376 458
   
  580,737 516,401 19,326 25,597
 
 
32. COST OF SALES 
 

Cost of sales represents cost of inventories sold. 
 
 
33. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 
 
   Group  Company 
   2011  2010  2011  2010 
     (Restated)     
  Note RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

      
 Profit before tax is arrived     
  at after charging:     
      
 Auditors’ remuneration:     
 - Statutory:     
   - current financial year  276 247 55 48 
   - (over)/under provision in     
       prior financial years  (23) 1 - - 
 - Non-statutory  8 8 8 8 
 Bad debts written off  12 383 - - 
 Depreciation of property,     
  plant and equipment 7 19,220 13,706 9 9 
 Directors’ remuneration     
 - Company 34 1,509 1,713 1,509 1,713 
 - subsidiaries  765 531 - - 
 Fair value adjustment on     
  derivative instruments  1,834 - - - 
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33. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 
 
   Group  Company 
   2011  2010  2011  2010 
     (Restated)     
  Note RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

      
 Profit before tax is arrived     
 at after charging (continued):     
      
  Impairment loss on:      
 - other investment 11 5 - 5 - 
 - property, plant and equipment  7 - 591   
 - trade receivables   712 122 - - 
 - other receivables   5 3 - - 
 - amounts owing by subsidiaries  - - 7 9
 Interest expense on:     
 - bank overdrafts  19 12 11 12
 - bankers’ acceptances  867 724 - - 
 - bill payables  48 40 - - 
 - term loans  3,602 748 - - 
 - revolving credits  197 551 - - 
 - hire purchase and lease       
    creditors  694 628 - - 
 - others  389 1 - - 
 Inventories written down  38 - - - 
 Inventories written off  7,351 6,920 - - 
 Islamic term financing costs  514 456 - - 
 Lease rental  1,893 1,887 - - 
 Other investment written off  - 6 - - 
 Property, plant and equipment       
 written off 7 1,853 1,311 - - 
 Provision for:      
 - litigation claim 27 3 1,600 - - 
 - retirement benefits 25 232 405 - - 
 - pallet losses 27 - 518 - - 
 - market returns 27 415 68  - 
 Rental of equipment  723 1,081 - - 
 Rental of motor vehicles  316 244 - - 
 Rental of premises  8,783 2,437 147 147 
 Royalty paid and payable  654 562 - - 
 Settlement of legal litigation 30(b) 90 - - - 
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33. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued) 
 
   Group  Company 
   2011  2010  2011  2010 
     (Restated)     
  Note RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

 And crediting:      

 Bad debts recovered  262 20 - - 
 Gain on disposal of:      
 - property, plant and equipment  24 371 - - 
 - non-current asset held for sale  - - - - 
 - investment properties  - 10 - - 
 Gross dividends received      
 from subsidiaries  31 - - 12,950 19,139 
 Interest income from:      
 - a subsidiary  - - 64 64 
 - fixed deposits  475 329 312 217 
 - short-term investment  - 177 - 177 
 Provisions for other liabilities    
 no longer required:      
 - market returns  27 36 468 - - 
 - pallet loss 27 328 - - - 
 Rental income  1,300 9 - - 
 Realised foreign exchange gain  1,624 600 - - 
 Reversal of impairment loss      
 on trade receivables  - 72 - - 

Sale from inventory previously      
written off  688 611 - - 

Unrealised foreign exchange gain  1,446 152 - - 

 
 
34. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 
 
 Group and Company
 2011  2010
 RM’000  RM’000

 Directors of the Company  
   
 Executive Director  
 - salaries, bonus and allowances 1,138 1,346
 - defined contribution plan 137 162
   
  1,275 1,508

 Non-Executive Directors  
 - allowances 69 60
 - fees 165 145
   
  234 205
   
  1,509 1,713
 

The estimated monetary value of benefits-in-kind received by the Directors otherwise than in 
cash from the Group and from the Company amounted to RM3,600 (2010: RM3,600). 
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34. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 

 
The number of Directors of the Company whose total remuneration during the financial year 
fall within the following bands is analysed below: 

 
 Number of Directors 
 2011 2010 
 Non-   Non-
 Executive Executive Executive  Executive
 Director Directors Director  Directors

 Directors of the Company  
   
 Below RM50,000 - 8 -  7
 RM1,200,001  1 - -  -
 RM1,500,000 - RM1,550,000 - - 1 -
 
 
35. TAX EXPENSE  
 
 Group Company 
 2011 2010 2011  2010
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000

 Current tax expense  
 - Based on profit for the     

     financial year 6,833 8,815 885 5,360
 - (Over)/Under  provision in   
  prior years (1,397) (419) 67 (7)
 Withholding tax (9) 9 -  -  
   
  5,427 8,405 952 5,353

 Deferred tax (Note 12):  

 Relating to origination   
 and reversal of temporary  
 differences 6,389 1,535 5 -     
 Under provision in  
 prior years 1,408 51 175 -     

  7,797 1,586 180 -     

 Total tax expense 13,224 9,991 1,132 5,353
 
Malaysian income tax is calculated at the statutory tax rate of 25% (2010: 25%) of the 
estimated taxable profits for the fiscal year. 
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35. TAX EXPENSE (continued) 
 

The numerical reconciliation between the tax expense and the product of accounting profit 
multiplied by the applicable tax rates of the Group and of the Company are as follows: 

 
 Group Company 
 2011 2010 2011  2010
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000
   

 Profit before tax 53,264 48,035 15,987 22,392

 Tax at Malaysian statutory tax  
  rate of 25% (2010: 25%) 13,316 12,009 3,997 5,598

 Tax effects in respect of:  

 Withholding tax (9) 9 - -

 Income not subject to tax (1,352) (1,359) (3,238) (324)

 Non-allowable expenses 2,385 2,873 131 86

 Double deductions (4) (5) - -      

 Utilisation of reinvestment  
  allowances (1,115) (3,414) - -      

 Change in the unrecognised   
  deferred tax assets during   
  the financial year (8) 246 - -      

  13,213 10,359 890 5,360

 Under provision of   
  deferred tax in prior  
  financial years 1,408 51 175 -      

 (Over)/Under provision of   
  income tax in prior  
  financial years (1,397) (419) 67 (7)
   
  13,224 9,991 1,132 5,353
 

Tax savings of the Group are arising from the utilisation of: 
 
 Group 
 2011  2010
 RM’000  RM’000

 Unused tax losses brought forward 49 64
 Reinvestment allowances 1,115 3,414

  1,164 3,478
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36. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 

Basic earnings per share for the financial year is calculated by dividing the profit for the 
financial year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year. 
 

 Group 
 2011  2010
 RM’000  RM’000

 Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders  
  of the parent 40,094 38,123
 

 Unit’000  Unit’000

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 142,000 142,000
 

 Sen  Sen

 Basic earnings per share  28.24  26.85 
 
 
37. DIVIDENDS 
 
  Group and Company 
  2011 2010 
  Gross Amount of Gross  Amount of
  dividend dividend, dividend  dividend,
  per share net of tax per share  net of tax
  Sen RM’000 Sen  RM’000

 Interim dividend paid 5.0 5,325 4.0 4,260
 Final dividend proposed 7.0 7,455 7.0 7,455

  12.0 12,780 11.0 11,715
 

The Directors propose a final dividend of 7 sen per share, less tax of 25%, amounting to 
RM7,455,000 in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2011, subject to the approval of 
members at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company. The financial 
statements for the current financial year do not reflect this proposed dividend. This dividend, if 
approved by shareholders, will be accounted for as an appropriation of retained earnings in the 
financial year ending 30 June 2012. 
 

 
38. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
 
 Group Company 
 2011 2010 2011  2010
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000

 Salaries and wages 43,907 37,142 2,099 2,177
 Social security contributions 304 262 5 5
 Contributions to defined  
 contribution plan 3,810 3,260 255 258
 Defined benefits plans 200 405 - -
 Other benefits 2,358 1,695 140 47

  50,579 42,764 2,499 2,487
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39. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 
 

(a) Identities of related parties 
 

Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group has the ability, directly or 
indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making 
financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group and the party are 
subject to common control or common significant influence. Related parties may be 
individuals or other entities. 

 
The Company has controlling related party relationship with its direct and indirect 
subsidiaries. 
 
Related parties of the Group include: 
 
(i) Direct and indirect subsidiaries as disclosed in the Note 10 to the financial 

statements; 
 
(ii) Datuk Johari Bin Abdul Ghani and Datin Mariam Prudence Binti Yusof, the major 

shareholders of the Company; 
 
(iii) Key management personnel which comprises persons (including the Directors of 

the Company) having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the Group directly or indirectly; and 

 
(iv) Corporations in which Directors of the Company have substantial financial 

interests. 
 

(b) Related party transactions 
 

The Group and the Company had the following transactions with related parties during 
the financial year: 
 

  Group Company
  2011 2010 2011  2010
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000

 Corporations in which a 
  Director of the Company  
  has deemed interest  
 - Purchases of raw materials 3,322 1,566 -      -     
 - Royalty paid and payable 654 562 -      -     

 Subsidiaries 
  - Interest income -     -     64 64
  - Dividend income -     -     12,950 19,139
  - Management and other fees -     -     6,000 6,000

 
The transactions have been entered into in the normal course of business and are based 
on negotiated and mutually agreed terms. 



Company No: 86
37918 - A  
 
 
 
39. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued) 
 

(b) Related party transactions (continued) 
 
Significant balances with subsidiaries as at the end of reporting period are disclosed in 
Note 15 to the financial statements. The amount owing to a corporation in which a 
Director of the Company has deemed interest as at the end of reporting period amounted 
to RM760,652 (2010: RM681,398), which is unsecured, interest-free and repayable 
based on normal credit term. 

 
(c) Compensation of key management personnel 

 
Key management personnel are those persons having the authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, directly and indirectly, 
including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of the Group. 

  
The remuneration of Directors and other key management personnel during the financial 
year was as follows: 

 

  Group Company
  2011 2010 2011  2010
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000

  
 Short term employee benefits 5,171 4,998 1,790 1,905
 Contributions to defined  
 contribution plan 569 443 187 204

  
  5,740 5,441 1,977 2,109
 
 

40. OPERATING SEGMENTS 
 

The Group has arrived at three reportable segments that are organised and managed separately 
according to the business segments, which requires different business and marketing strategies. 
The reportable segments are summarised as follows: 

 
Beverage Selling, bottling and distribution of beverage products 
 
Tap-ware and sanitary 
ware 

Manufacture and trading of household fittings and appliances 
such as water taps, plumbing accessories and sanitary 
wares 

 
Investment holdings Investment activities 
 
Other operating segments include subsidiaries principally engaged in the provision of 
engineering services and other operations, where none of which are of a sufficient size to be 
reported separately. These subsidiaries have ceased operations in the previous financial years 
and remained inactive. 
 
The accounting policies of operating segments are the same as those described in the summary 
of significant accounting policies. 
 
The Group evaluates performance on the basis of profit or loss from operations before taxation 
not including non-recurring losses, such as restructuring costs and goodwill impairment. 
 
The Directors are of the opinion that all inter-segment transactions have been entered into in 
the normal course of business and are based on negotiated and mutually agreed terms. Inter-
segment revenue is eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. 
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40. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued) 

 
Segment assets exclude tax assets. 
  
Segment liabilities exclude tax liabilities and retirement benefit obligations. Even though loans 
and borrowings arise from financing activities rather than operating activities, they are allocated to 
the segments based on relevant factors (e.g. funding requirements). Details are provided in the 
reconciliations from segment assets and liabilities to the group position. 
 
  Tap-ware    
  and    
  sanitary Investment   
2011 Beverage ware holdings Others Total 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
Revenue      
Total revenue 536,937 43,487 19,327 - 924,052 
Inter-segment revenue - - (19,014) - (343,315) 

Revenue from external  
customers 536,937 43,487 313 - 580,737 

Interest income 144 19 312 - 475 
Finance costs (5,991) (328) (11) - (6,330) 

Net finance expenses (5,847) (309) 301 - (5,855) 

Depreciation (18,697) (514) (9) - (19,920) 
  
Segment profit/(loss)      

before income tax 41,823 8,487 2,973 (19) 53,264 

  
Income tax expenses (9,949) (2,143) (1,132) - (13,224) 
  
Other material non-cash      

items:      
- Fair value adjustments on       

derivative instruments 1,834 - - - 1,834 
- Impairment losses on       

trade and other       
receivables 662 55 - - 717 

- Inventories written off 7,351 - - - 7,351 
- Property, plant and       

equipment written off 1,853 - - - 1,853 

- Provisions 326 (40) - - 286 

      

Additions to non-current       
    assets other than   
    financial instruments      
    and deferred tax assets 68,376 577 17 - 68,970 
      
Segment assets 443,699 38,501 12,278 236 494,714 
 
Segment liabilities 279,438 10,183 1,252 362 291,235 
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40. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 
 

 

  Tap-ware    
  and    
  sanitary Investment   
2010 Beverage ware holdings Others Total 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
Revenue      
Total revenue 479,930 36,077 25,597 - 814,865 
Inter-segment revenue - - (25,203) - (298,464) 

Revenue from external      
customers 479,930 36,077 394 - 516,401 

Interest income 80 30 396 - 506 
Finance costs (2,772) (376) (12) - (3,160) 
      
Net finance expenses (2,692) (346) 384 - (2,654) 

   
Depreciation (13,048) (649) (9) - (13,706) 
      
Segment profit/(loss)       

before income tax 41,317 3,546 3,252 (80) 48,035 
      
Income tax expenses (8,038) (1,105) (848) - (9,991) 
      
Other material non-cash      

items:      
- Impairment loss on trade     

and other receivables 102 23 - - 125 
- Impairment loss  on      

property, plant       
and equipment 591 - - - 591 

- Inventories written off 6,920 - - - 6,920 
- Property, plant and       

equipment written off 1,311 - - - 1,311 
- Provisions 2,055 68 - - 2,123 

      
Additions to non-current       
    assets other than       
    financial instruments      
    and deferred tax assets 54,821 260 1 - 55,082 

      
Segment assets 340,824 34,835 11,617 248 387,524 

     
Segment liabilities 201,872 12,854 1,091 361 216,178 
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40. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 
 

Reconciliations of reportable profit or loss, assets and liabilities to the Group’s corresponding 
amounts are as follows: 

 
2011  2010

RM’000  RM’000
    

Profit for the financial year  
Total profit for reportable segments 53,264 48,035
Income tax expense (13,224) (9,991)
  
Profit after tax 40,040 38,044

    

Assets  
Total assets for reportable segments 494,714 387,524
Tax assets 3,062 1,861
  
Group’s assets 497,776 389,385
  
Liabilities  
Total liabilities for reportable segments 291,235 216,178
Tax liabilities 16,100 10,790
  
Group’s liabilities 307,335 226,968

    

 
 

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 

(a)    Capital management  
 
The objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy 
ratios in order to support its business operations and to provide fair returns for shareholders 
and benefits for other stakeholders. 
 
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, as deemed 
appropriate.  In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may, from time 
to time, adjust the dividend payout to shareholders, issue new shares and redeem debts, 
where necessary. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the 
financial years ended 30 June 2011 and 30 June 2010. 
  
The Directors monitor and determine the optimal debt to equity ratio that complies with 
debt covenants.  
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 

(a)    Capital management (continued) 
 

The Group regards net debt to include all loans and borrowings less cash and cash 
equivalents (including fixed deposits) and capital to include all equities attributable to the 
equity holders of the Company. 

 
 Group 
 2011  2010
 RM’000  RM’000
    
Borrowings 175,461  94,654 
    
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (68,854)  (38,485) 
   
Net debt 106,607  56,169 
   
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 189,385  161,307 

   
Gearing ratio (%) 56.3%  34.8% 

 
The Group will continue to be guided by prudent financial policies of which gearing is an 
important aspect. 

 
(b) Financial instruments     

  
 Certain comparative figures have not been presented for 30 June 2010 by virtue of the 

exemption given in paragraph 44AA of FRS 7. 
 

Categories of financial instruments 
 
 
 
 
Group 

 
 

Loans and 
receivables 

Fair value 
through 
profit or 

loss 

 
 

Available-
for-sale 

 
 

Held to 
maturity 

  
 
 

Total 
2011 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000
    
Financial assets    
    
Trade and other    
  receivables 122,498 - -  -  122,498 
Cash and cash      
  equivalents 70,820 - -  -  70,820 
Other investment - - 10  -  10 
Derivative assets - 8 -  -  8 
       
 193,318 8 10  -  193,336 
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 

(b) Financial instruments (continued)     
 

Categories of financial instruments (continued) 
 

 
 
 
Group 

Fair value 
through 
profit or 

loss 

  
Other 

financial 
liabilities 

  
 
 

Total 
2011 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000

 
Financial liabilities 
 
Borrowings  - 175,461 175,461 
Trade and other payables - 106,908 106,908 
Derivative liabilities 1,340 - 1,340 

   
 1,340 282,369 283,709 

 

 
 
 
Company 

 
 

Loans and 
receivables

Fair value 
through 
profit or 

loss 

 
 

Available-
for-sale 

 
 

Held to 
maturity 

  
 
 

Total 
2011 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000
    
Financial assets    
    
Trade and other    
  receivables 72 - -  -  72 
Amounts owing by        
  subsidiaries 12,145 - -  -  12,145 
Cash and cash      
  equivalents 12,163 - -  -  12,163 
Other investment - - 10  -  10 
      
 24,380 - 10  -  24,390 

 

 
 
 
 

Company 

Fair value 
through 
profit or 

loss 

  
Other 

financial 
liabilities 

  
 
 

Total 
2011 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000
  
Financial liabilities  
  
Amounts owing to subsidiaries - 14,245 14,245 
Trade and other payables - 1,245  1,245 
    
 - 15,490  15,490 
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 

(c) Fair values of financial instruments 
 
 The fair values of financial instruments that are not carried at fair value and whose 

carrying amounts do not approximate its fair values are as follows: 
  

 Group 
2011 Carrying  Fair
 amount  value
 RM’000  RM’000
Recognised    
    
Financial liabilities:    
Hire purchase and lease creditors 11,131  10,481 

  
2010    
    
Financial liabilities:    
Hire purchase and lease creditors 8,831  8,238 

 
(d) Determination of fair values 
 
 Methods and assumptions used to estimate fair values 
  
 The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows: 
   

(i) Financial instruments that are not carried at fair values and whose carrying 
amounts are a reasonable approximation of fair values. 
 

 The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities, such as trade and 
other receivables, trade and other payables and borrowings, are reasonable 
approximation of fair values, either due to their short-term nature or that they are 
floating rate instruments that are re-priced to market interest rates on or near the 
end of the reporting period. 

 
(ii)  Hire purchase and lease creditors 

  
The fair values of these borrowings are estimated based on the future contractual 
cash flows discounted at current market interest rates available for similar financial 
instruments and of the same remaining maturities. 

 
(iii)  Other investment 

  
The fair value of club membership is determined by reference to comparable 
market value of similar investment. 
 

(iv)  Derivatives 
  

The fair value of a forward foreign exchange contract is the amount that would be 
payable or receivable upon termination of the outstanding position arising and is 
determined by reference to the difference between the contracted rate and the 
forward exchange rate as at the end of the reporting period applied to a contract of 
similar amount and maturity profile.  
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 

(d) Determination of fair values (continued) 
 

(iv)  Derivatives (continued) 
 

The fair value of a currency swap contract is the amount that would be payable or 
receivable upon termination of the position at the end of the reporting period, and 
is calculated as the difference between the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows at the contracted rate compared to that calculated at the spot rate as at 
the end of the reporting period. 

 
(e) Fair value hierarchy 
  

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured 
subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the 
degree to which the fair value is observable. 
 
Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
 
Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices 
included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as 
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 
 
Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs for the asset or liability that 
are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 
 
As at 30 June 2011, the Group held the following financial instruments carried at fair 
values on the statement of financial position: 

 
Assets measured at fair values 
 
 2011 Level 1 Level 2  Level 3 
Group RM RM RM  RM 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000
  
Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss 

 

  - Forward currency contracts 8 - 8 - 
      

Available-for-sale financial     
asset     

  - Club membership 10 - 10 - 
 

Liabilities measured at fair values 
 

 2011 Level 1 Level 2  Level 3 
Group RM RM RM  RM 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000
  
Financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss 

 

  - Cross currency swap 1,340 - 1,340 - 
 

During the financial year, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value 
measurements. 
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES  

 
Exposure to credit risk, liquidity and cash flow risk, foreign currency risk and interest rate risk 
arises in the normal course of the Group’s businesses. The Group’s overall financial risk 
management objective is to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of 
the Group. 

 
The Group’s overall business strategies, its tolerance of risk and its general risk management 
philosophy are determined by the management in accordance with prevailing economic and 
operating conditions.  Financial risk management is carried out through risk review, internal 
control systems and adherence to the Group’s financial risk management policies. The Group 
does not have financial instruments for trading purposes. 

 

The Group’s management policies for managing each of the financial risk are summarised 
below: 

 
(i) Credit risk 

 
Cash deposits and trade receivables may give rise to credit risk, which requires the loss to 
be recognised if a counter party fails to perform as contracted. Credit risk refers to the risk 
that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties 
and obtaining sufficient collateral where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of 
financial loss from defaults. The Group’s exposure and the creditworthiness of its 
counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate value of transactions 
concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties. Credit exposure is controlled by the 
counterparty limits that are reviewed and approved by management annually. 
 
The Group’s primary exposure to credit risk arises through its trade receivables. The 
carrying amount of financial assets as recorded in the financial statements, grossed up for 
any impairment losses, represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without 
taking account of the value of any collateral obtained. 

 
 Credit risk concentration profile 
 

 At the end of the reporting period, approximately: 
 

- 28% (2010: 28%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due from five major 
customers who are multi-industry conglomerates located in Malaysia. 

- RM12,145,332 (2010:RM10,313,578) are amounts owing by subsidiaries. 
 

Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired 
  

Information regarding trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired is 
disclosed in Note 14 to the financial statements. Deposits with banks and other financial 
institutions, that are neither past due nor impaired are placed with or entered into with 
financial institutions with good standing. 

  
Financial assets that are either past due or impaired 

  
Information regarding financial assets that are either past due or impaired is disclosed in 
Note 14 to the financial statements. 
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) 
 

(ii) Liquidity and cash flow risk (continued) 
  
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to service its cash obligations in the future. 
To mitigate this risk, the management measures and forecasts its cash commitments, 
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate to finance the 
Group’s operations and development activities. 
 
Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities 

 
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s 
liabilities at the end of the reporting period based on contractual undiscounted repayment 
obligations. 

 
 2011 
 On demand 

or within 
one year 

 
One to five 

years 

 
Over five 

years 

  
 

Total 
Group RM RM RM  RM 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000

        

Financial liabilities:   
Trade and other payables 106,908 - - 106,908 
Borrowings 68,047 72,109 68,496 208,652 
Derivative liabilities 1,340 - - 1,340 

Total undiscounted financial      
liabilities 176,295 72,109 68,496 316,900 

        

Company   

Financial liabilities:   
Trade and other payables 1,245 - - 1,245 

Total undiscounted financial      
  liabilities 1,245 - - 1,245 

 
(iii) Foreign currency risk  

 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. 

  
The Group is subject to foreign exchange fluctuations through the import of raw materials 
and packaging materials and export of finished goods. The Group periodically uses foreign 
currency forward contracts to protect against the volatility associated with foreign currency 
transactions for receivables denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of 
the operating entities within the Group. 

 

During the financial year, the Group entered into foreign currency forward contracts and 
currency swap contracts to manage exposures to currency risk for payables and borrowings, 
which are denominated in a currency other than the functional currencies of the Group. 
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) 
 

(iii) Foreign currency risk (continued) 
 
  Contract  
  amounts  

  Foreign Expiry in foreign RM’000
 Group currency dates currency equivalent
  
 2011 
  
 Forward contracts USD July 2011 200,000  607
  used to hedge  USD August 2011 350,000  1,052
  trade payables   
  
 2010 
        
 Forward contracts EURO July 2010 967,177  4,364
  used to hedge  EURO August 2010 300,000  1,198
  trade payables USD July 2010 500,000  1,599
  USD August 2010 300,000 959
 

The unrecognised gain as at 30 June 2010 on the open contracts that hedged anticipated 
future foreign currency sales amounting to RM501,097 was deferred and recognised 
during the current financial year upon adoption of FRS 139 as disclosed in Note 45 to the 
financial statements.  

 
The financial assets and liabilities of the Group that are not denominated in the 
functional currency are as follows: 

 

 Group 
 2011  2010
 RM’000  RM’000

   
 Trade receivables  
 US Dollar 174 101
   
 Trade payables  
 Euro 155 6,017
 US Dollar 3,557 6,345
 Singapore Dollar 73 -
   
 Other payables  
 Euro 1,500 -
 US Dollar 139 1,884
 Singapore Dollar 40 -
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) 
 

 (iii) Foreign currency risk (continued) 
 

Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk 
 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s profit after tax to a 3% 
change in the US Dollar, Euro Dollar and Singapore Dollar exchange rates against the 
Ringgit Malaysia respectively, with all other variables held constant. 3% is the sensitivity 
rate used when reporting foreign currency risk exposures internally to key management 
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign 
exchange rates. 
 
The sensitivity analysis includes only significant outstanding balances denominated in 
foreign currencies.  
 
If the relevant foreign currency strengthens by 3% against the functional currency of the 
Group as at the end of the reporting period, profit for the financial year would decrease by 
the following amounts, mainly due to period end exposure on monetary balances 
denominated in the respective foreign currencies. 
 
  Group 
  30.6.2011 
  RM’000 
  Profit after tax  
   
USD/RM  79 
EUR/RM  37 
SGD/RM  3 

 
If the relevant foreign currency weakens by 3% against the functional currencies as 
mentioned, impact on the profit for the financial year would be vice versa. 

 
(iv) Interest rate risk 

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and the 
Company’s financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest 
rates. 

 
The Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the 
interest-bearing borrowings on floating rates. The Group does not use derivative financial 
instruments to hedge this risk. 
 
Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk 
 
As at 30 June 2011, if interest rates at the date had been 100 basis points lower with all 
other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been RM938,729 
higher, arising mainly as a result of lower interest expense on variable borrowings. If 
interest rates had been 100 basis points higher, with all other variables held constant, post-
tax profit would have been RM950,014 lower, arising mainly as a result of higher interest 
expense on variable borrowings.  
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) 

 
(iv) Interest rate risk (continued) 

 
The following tables set out the carrying amounts, the weighted average effective interest rates (“WAEAIR”) as at the end of the reporting 
period and the remaining maturities of the Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to interest rate risk: 

 
    Within     More than  
   WAEAIR 1 year 1 - 2 years 2 - 3 years 3 - 4 years 4 - 5 years 5 years Total 
 Group Note % RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

 At 30 June 2011          
           
 Fixed rate instruments          
 Deposits placed with financial          
  institutions 16 3.11% 12,650 - - - - - 12,650 
 Deposits placed with an institutional          
  trustee 16 4.20% 1,966 - - - - - 1,966 
 Hire purchase and lease creditors 24 5.90% 4,064 2,820 2,110 1,532 605 - 11,131 

           
 Floating rate instruments           
 Bankers’ acceptances 21 3.41% 38,944 - - - - - 38,944 
 Revolving credits 21 4.70% 5,009 - - - - - 5,009 
 Term loans 22 4.32% 4,753 5,862 8,681 15,342 15,952 61,964 112,554 
 Islamic acceptance bills 23 5.08% 1,041 - - - - - 1,041 
 Islamic term financing 23 9.73% 2,007 2,459 1,099 1,189 28 - 6,782 

           
 Company          
 At 30 June 2011          
           
 Fixed rate instruments          
 Amount owing by a subsidiary 15 8.00% 800 - - - - - 800 
 Deposits placed with financial          
  institutions 16 3.14% 12,000 - - - - - 12,000 
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) 
 

(iv) Interest rate risk (continued) 
 
The following tables set out the carrying amounts, the weighted average effective interest rates (“WAEAIR”) as at the end of the reporting 
period and the remaining maturities of the Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to interest rate risk (continued): 

 
    Within     More than  
   WAEAIR 1 year 1 - 2 years 2 - 3 years 3 - 4 years 4 - 5 years 5 years Total 
 Group Note % RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

 At 30 June 2010          
           
 Fixed rate instruments          
 Deposits placed with financial          
  institutions 16 2.07 13,611 - - - - - 13,611 
 Deposits placed with an institutional           
  trustee 16 4.20 1,887 - - - - - 1,887 
 Hire purchase and lease creditors 24 6.49 3,332 2,937 1,604 813 145 - 8,831 

           
 Floating rate instruments           
 Bankers’ acceptances 21 3.02 23,028 - - - - - 23,028 
 Revolving credits 21 4.00 10,321 - - - - - 10,321 
 Term loans 22 3.91 4,500 5,750 10,438 - - - 20,688 
 Islamic acceptance bills 23 5.22 813 - - - - - 813 
 Islamic term financing 23 5.73 1,976 2,966 5,525 7,079 9,336 4,091 30,973 

           
 Company          
 At 30 June 2010          
           
 Fixed rate instruments          
 Amount owing by a subsidiary 15 8.00 800 - - - - - 800 
 Deposits placed with financial          
  institutions 16 2.15 11,100 - - - - - 11,100 
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43.   SIGNIFICANT EVENT SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD 
 

On 21 July 2011, the Company entered into a conditional share sale agreement with Asahi 
Group Holdings Ltd. (“Asahi”) for the disposal of the entire equity interest in Permanis Sdn. 
Bhd. to Asahi for a total cash consideration of RM820 million. 

 
 
44.   COMPARATIVES 

 
Certain figures as at 1 July 2009 have been restated due to the effects arising from the 
adoption of Amendment to FRS 117 Leases, which have resulted in retrospective adjustments. 
Leasehold land held by the Group for own use were reclassified from prepaid lease payments 
for land as previously reported, to property, plant and equipment - leasehold land. 

 

  
As  

previously 
reported 

Effects on 
adoption of 
Amendment  
to FRS 117 

  
 

As  
restated 

As at 1 July 2009 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000 
     
Group     
   
Statement of financial position    
   
Assets   

     
Non-current assets   
   

Property, plant and equipment 85,725 3,080  88,805 
Investment properties 1,885 -  1,885 
Prepaid lease payments for land 3,080 (3,080)  - 
Intangible assets 47,548 -  47,548 
Other investments 21 -  21 
Deferred tax assets 1,079 -  1,079 

     
 139,338 -  139,338 
   
Current assets   
   

Inventories   32,624 -  32,624 
Trade and other receivables 78,040 -  78,040 
Current tax assets 524 -  524 
Cash and cash equivalents 39,898 -  39,898 

  
 151,086 -  151,086 

Non-current assets held for sale 4,500 -  4,500 
     
 155,586 -  155,586 

  
Total assets 294,924 -  294,924 

     
 



Company No: 101
37918 - A  
 
 
 
44.   COMPARATIVES (continued) 

 
Certain figures as at 1 July 2009 have been restated due to the effects arising from the 
adoption of Amendment to FRS 117 Leases, which have resulted in retrospective adjustments. 
Leasehold land held by the Group for own use were reclassified from prepaid lease payments 
for land as previously reported, to property, plant and equipment - leasehold land (continued). 

 

  
As  

previously 
reported 

Effects on 
adoption of 
Amendment  
to FRS 117 

  
 

As  
restated 

 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000 
Equity and liabilities   
   
Equity attributable to owners of the    
  parent    
   
Share capital 142,000 -  142,000 
Share premium 2,147 -  2,147 
Retained earnings (11,378) -  (11,378) 

  
 132,769 -  132,769 
Non-controlling interests 1,189 -  1,189 
   
Total equity 133,958 -  133,958 

 

 

Liabilities    
     
Non-current liabilities    
    

Borrowings 31,560 -  31,560 
Retirement benefit obligations 3,332 -  3,332 
Deferred tax liabilities 5,164 -  5,164 

     
 40,056 -  40,056 

     
Current liabilities   
   

Trade and other payables 70,329 - 70,329 
Provisions  2,350 - 2,350 
Borrowings 46,797 -  46,797 
Current tax liabilities 1,434 - 1,434 

     
 120,910 - 120,910 
     
Total liabilities 160,966 - 160,966 

    
Total equity and liabilities 294,924 - 294,924 
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44.   COMPARATIVES (continued) 

 
Certain figures as at 1 July 2009 have been restated due to the effects arising from the 
adoption of Amendment to FRS 117 Leases, which have resulted in retrospective adjustments. 
Leasehold land held by the Group for own use were reclassified from prepaid lease payments 
for land as previously reported, to property, plant and equipment - leasehold land (continued). 

 
 

 
 
 

Group 

  
As  

previously 
reported 

Effects on 
adoption of 
Amendment  
to FRS 117 

  
 

As 
restated 

  RM RM  RM 
  RM’000 RM’000  RM’000

      
For the financial year ended 30 June 2010    

      
Statement of comprehensive income   
Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment - leasehold land 
  

- 
 

60 
  

60 
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments for 

land 
 

60 
 

(60) 
  

- 
      
Statement of financial position     
Property, plant and equipment  
-  leasehold land 

  
- 

 
3,020 

  
3,020 

Prepaid lease payments for land  3,020 (3,020)  - 
 
 
45.   OPENING STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 

The opening statement of financial position as at 1 July 2010 primarily reflects the effects 
arising from the adoption of FRS 139, as follows: 

 

 As  
previously 
reported

Effects on 
adoption of  

FRS 139 

  
As  

restated 
Group RM’000 RM’000  RM’000 
   
Statement of financial position    
   
Assets   

     
Non-current assets   
   

Property, plant and equipment 128,263 -  128,263 
Investment properties 1,280 -  1,280 
Intangible assets 47,548 -  47,548 
Other investments 15 -  15 
Deferred tax assets 1,642 -  1,642 

     
 178,748 -  178,748 
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45.  OPENING STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued) 
 

The opening statement of financial position as at 1 July 2010 primarily reflects the effects 
arising from the adoption of FRS 139, as follows (continued): 

 

 As  
previously 
reported

Effects on 
adoption of  

FRS 139 

  
As  

restated 
 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000 

      

Current assets   
      

Inventories   51,912 -  51,912 
Trade and other receivables 113,572 -  113,572 
Amounts owing by subsidiaries - -       -      
Current tax assets 219 -  219 
Cash and cash equivalents 40,434 -  40,434 
Derivative assets - 501  501 

      

 206,137 501  206,638 
Non-current assets held for sale 4,500 -  4,500 

      

 210,637 501  211,138 
      

Total assets 389,385 501  389,886 
 

Equity and liabilities   
      

Equity attributable to owners of the    
  parent    

      

Share capital 142,000 -  142,000 
Share premium 2,147 -  2,147 
Retained earnings 17,160 764  17,924 

   

 161,307 764  162,071 
Non-controlling interests 1,110 -  1,110 

      

Total equity 162,417 764  163,181 
 

 

Liabilities    
      

Non-current liabilities   
      

Borrowings 50,684 -  50,684 
Retirement benefit obligations 3,439 -  3,439 
Deferred tax liabilities 7,313 125  7,438 

      

 61,436 125  61,561 
      

Current liabilities   
      

Trade and other payables 114,017 - 114,017 
Provisions  4,068 - 4,068 
Borrowings 43,970 (388) 43,582 
Current tax liabilities 3,477 - 3,477 

      

 165,532 (388) 165,144 
      

Total liabilities 226,968 (263) 226,705 
      

Total equity and liabilities 389,385 501 389,886 
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46.  SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION ON REALISED AND UNREALISED PROFITS 

OR LOSSES 
 

The retained profits/(accumulated losses) as at the end of the reporting period may be analysed 
as follows: 

 
  2011 
  Group  Company 
  RM’000  RM’000

 Total accumulated losses of C.I. Holdings Berhad and its 
subsidiaries: 

   

   - Realised (145,426)  (44,495)
   - Unrealised (15,932)    (180)
  (161,358)  (44,675)
 Less: Consolidation adjustments 206,596  - 
    
 Total group/company retained profits/    
  (accumulated losses) as per consolidated accounts 45,238  (44,675)
 
 


